# The Effects of Individual and Community-Level Factors on Maternal Health Outcomes in Ghana

By

© Joseph Adu

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of Master of Science (Medicine)

Division of Community Health and Humanities

Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University of Newfoundland

May 2018

St. John's, Newfoundland

#### Abstract

The utilization of maternal health care services is imperative to reducing the number of perinatal deaths and postnatal complications amongst pregnant women. Data from the 2014 Ghana Demographic and Health Survey was used to conduct a quantitative study to understand the effects of individual and community-level factors on the uptake of maternal health care services. In addition, policy documents on maternal and child health care in Ghana with respect to antenatal, facility-based delivery, and postnatal care were reviewed to better understand government policies to improve maternal care. The quantitative study used a sample of 4,141 women nested within 427 clusters across Ghana. Multilevel logistic regression models were employed to examine the effects of individual and community-level factors on antenatal, facilitybased delivery, and postnatal care. All the quantitative analyses were conducted with sampleweighted data. The quantitative analysis revealed both individual and community-level factors as significant predictors of maternal health outcomes in Ghana. For instance, wealthier women and those with higher education were significantly more likely to utilize antenatal and delivery services in both the rural and urban areas. Distance to health facilities was negatively associated with women's use of maternal health services. The policy documents analyses indicated equity gaps in rural-urban health infrastructure and lack of financial resources to ensure equitable delivery of maternal health care services in Ghana. Policy makers must consider both individual and community-level factors, and women's rights with regard to employment opportunities in addressing barriers to maternal health care in Ghana.

**Keywords:** Ghana, Maternal Health Outcomes, Individual and Community-Level Factors, Quantitative and Policy Documents Analyses.

#### Acknowledgements

My first thanks go to the Almighty God for giving me the needed strength and wisdom pursuing this research and for staying the course.

I would like to acknowledge gratitude for receiving the Ying Cao International Community Health Graduate Student Award 2014-2015 of Memorial University of Newfoundland. I would also like to extend my thanks for receiving funding from Research and Graduate Studies, the Faculty of Medicine at Memorial and my supervisor, Dr. Shree Mulay for subsequent financial support during my period of study.

I would also, like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Shree Mulay, and co-supervisor, Dr. Jill Allison of the Division of Community Health and Humanities, Faculty of Medicine for their support, patience and guidance throughout the work on my thesis. Thank you to my other committee members, Dr. Martha Yepez-Traverso of the Division of Community Health and Humanities, Faculty of Medicine and Dr. Eric Yeboah Tenkorang of Sociology Department, Faculty of Social Science and Humanities for their time, directions and constructive criticisms in producing this thesis. I would like to acknowledge Mr. Emmanuel Banchani of Sociology department for assisting me with data extraction from the GDHS (2014) survey and with analysis.

I am also grateful to Dr. Fern Brunger for her guidance and constant encouragement on my studies when I had the chance to work with her as a research assistant at the beginning of my graduate program. I would like to extend my appreciation to Dr. Laurier Twells and Dr. William Midodzi, Faculty of Medicine of Memorial University, for their final comments and suggestions during the external review process of my thesis.

Again, I would like to thank all faculty members, staff and my peers in the Division of Community Health and Humanities who shared their ideas and insights that contributed immeasurably in shaping this thesis. I will forever be grateful to you all.

I would also like to express my profound gratitude to Dr. Patrick Kuma Aboagye (Director of the Family Health Division of the Ghana Health Service) for providing me the required documents on Maternal and Child Health for the documents analysis part of this thesis, not forgetting the Ethics Committee of ICF Macro in Calverton, USA (custodian of the DHS data sets) for granting me permission to use the GDHS 2014 data set for this study.

Finally, my special thanks go to my dear wife, Ivy and my three daughters, Princess, Precious, and Justine for constant support and reassurance, especially when the journey became very rough and tough for me to continue in their absence. God richly bless you all, for you are my source of inspiration in my academic journey.

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Content	v-vii
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	. ix
List of Acronyms/Abbreviations	x-xii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background & Rationale	1
1.2 Objective of the study	4
1.3 Research Questions	5
1.4 The significance of the study	5
1.5 Research Setting	6
1.6 Thesis Organization	11
Chapter 2	12
2.0 Literature Review	12
2.1 The global trend of inequities in maternal healthcare	12
2.2 Childbirth and post-natal complications among women globally	16
2.3 Maternal health care in Ghana	18
2.4 Living conditions and socio-cultural outcomes in women's decision-making process	22
2.5 Community-level factors and support systems needed to improve maternal health services	26
2.5.1 Systemic/Social factors and maternal health outcomes	26
2.5.2 Health Systems Failure	
2.5.3 Community and Individual-level factors	
2.6 Conceptual Framework	33
3.1 Introduction	

### **Table of Contents**

3.2 Quantitative Study Design	6
3.3 Data and Sampling	7
3.4 Questionnaires	0
3.5 Measures	2
3.5.1 Dependent Variables	2
3.5.2 Independent Variables4	4
3.5.3 Community-level factors	6
3.6 Analytical Technique	7
3.7 Method for document analysis	8
3.8 Ethical Considerations	9
4.0 Introduction	0
4.1 Descriptive Characteristics of Individual Women Extracted from the GDHS Database	0
4.2 Characteristics of Clusters/Communities	5
4.3 Bivariate Analysis	5
4.4 Multivariate Analysis	0
Chapter 5: Policy Documents Analyses	5
5.0 Introduction	5
5.1 Review and description of policy documents	5
5.2 Description of the Five-year Health Sector Program of Work (5YPOW)	7
5.3 Description of the Free Maternal Health Care in Ghana	9
5.4 Document Analysis	1
5.4.1 Meeting Objectives of MDGs 4&5	2
5.4.2 Maternal Healthcare under the National Health Insurance Scheme	3
5.4.3 Challenges facing MDG 4&5 indicator targets	3
5.4.4 Evaluation of the Free Maternal Healthcare Initiative	4
Table 4: Documents analysis display table on maternal and child health care in Ghana (2004-2014)7	7

Chapter 6: Discussion of Results, Conclusions, and Recommendations	
6.1 Introduction	
6.2 Limitations of the study	
6.3 Conclusions	
6.4 Recommendations for policy makers and future research	
References	

### List of Tables

Table 1: A univariate distribution of selected dependent and independent variables, GDHS      2014	.51
Table 2: Bivariate analyses of Antenatal, delivery and postnatal care for Ghanaian women,      2014	57
Table 3: Multivariate analyses of Antenatal, delivery and postnatal care for Ghanaian women         2014.	
Table 4: Documents analysis display table on maternal and child health care in Ghana (20042014)7	

Figure 1: The Map of Ghana7
-----------------------------

# **Abbreviations/ Acronyms**

AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
ANC	Antenatal Care
CHPS	Community-Based Health Planning and Services
DHS	Demographic Health Survey
DANIDA	Danish International Development Agency
EAs	Enumeration Areas
EmOC	Emergency Obstetric Care
EOC	Essential Obstetric Care
5YPOW	Five-Year Program of Work
GDHS	Ghana Demographic Health Survey
GHS	Ghana Health Services
GMHS	Ghana Maternal Health Survey
GSS	Ghana Statistical Service
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
ICPD	International Conference on Population and
IMCI	Integrated Management of Childhood Illness

IMR	Infant Mortality Rate
MAF	Millennium Development Acceleration Framework
MTHS	Medium Term Health Strategy
MDG 5	Millennium Development Goal five
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
МНС	Maternal Health Care
МНС	Maternal Health Channel
MMR	Maternal Mortality Ratio
МОН	Ministry of Health
NAS	National Ambulance Service
NGOs	Non-Governmental Organizations
NHIA	National Health Insurance Authority
NHIS	National Health Insurance Scheme
OR	Odd Ratios
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
РНС	Population and Housing Census
PMMP	Prevention of Maternal Mortality Program

PPME	Policy, Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation
РРН	Post-partum Hemorrhage
STIs	Sexually Transmitted Infections
SBA	Skilled Birth Attendance
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
SSA	sub-Sahara Africa
TBA	Traditional Birth Attendant
TBAs	Traditional Birth Attendants
TFR	Total Fertility Rate
UMR	Under-Five Mortality Rate
UNDP	United Nations Development Program
UN	United Nations
UNFPA	United Nation Population Fund
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
WHO	World Health Organization

### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Background & Rationale

Reproductive health and for that matter, maternal health is considered both a public health and a human rights issue according to the United Nations (UN, 1995). However:

"Maternal deaths in developing countries are often the ultimate tragic outcome of the cumulative denial of women's human rights. Women are dying not because of untreatable diseases. They are dying because societies have yet to make the decision that their lives are worth saving. Maternity is a social function and not a disease. When women are risking death to give life, they are entitled to have their own right to life and health protected. Societal attitudes of looking at women as means and not ends have resulted in the denial of women's rights to essential maternity services" (Fathalla, 2006, p. 409).

Unsurprisingly, research studies have shown that improved obstetric care reduces rates of morbidity and mortality among pregnant mothers and their newborns (Bohren et al., 2014; Amoakoh-Coleman et al., 2015; Ganle et al., 2014, 2015; Abor et al., 2011; Crissman et al., 2013). Mangham-Jefferies et al. (2014) have also observed that the distributions of obstetric services are scarce in poorly resourced countries with high rates of maternal mortality and morbidity. Ghana has been identified as a poorly resourced country in sub-Sahara Africa (SSA) with high rates of maternal mortality and morbidity. Poor utilization of resources as well as inadequate access to antenatal and postnatal care contribute to the high maternal mortality ratio (MMR) in Ghana (Tunc alp et al., 2014; GSS, 2013).

Maternal access to prenatal care is vital to reducing perinatal deaths and postnatal complications among women, especially at the community level. Pregnant women's access and

use of prenatal services offer them opportunities to be examined by skilled attendants for early identification of abnormal signs in pregnancy, and early treatment to avoid complications during labor (Gross et al., 2011; Magadi et al., 2000). However, the scope of literature shows contextual factors as significant predictors of maternal healthcare utilization (Abekah-Nkrumah et al., 2011; Osorio et al., 2014; Gage, 2007). These factors include: household and community-level poverty, geographical distance, poor road networks and the lack of availability of care.

Most studies that examine utilization of maternal healthcare services in SSA have focused largely on individual-level explanations to the neglect of contextual and communitylevel explanations. Notable exceptions are studies by Babalola & Fatusi (2009); Yebyo et al. (2014); and Magadi et al. (2000) in which they examine community-level factors in SSA. These studies examined the effect of distance, residence, and the availability of health facilities and human resources on the uptake of (antennal care) ANC. The dearth of such studies could possibly be due to the lack of aggregate-level data that provides direct measures of communitylevel factors in the sub-region.

There is evidence that Ghana's MMR has declined from 740/100,000 live births in 1990 to 319/100,000 live births in 2015 (WHO 2015). While this reduction is significant, experts and policy makers have bemoaned the slow pace at which the declines have occurred and have subsequently attributed this to lack of maternal health interventions at the community level. It is not surprising that policy documents regarding reproductive health care in Ghana have been silent on the relevance of community-level interventions to maternal health utilization. To date, the Ministry of Health (MOH) in Ghana has focused on restructuring and increasing the training of middle level health workers to oversee the growing number of Community-Based Planning

and Service (CHPS) compounds (facilities) to provide health care services to the populace in the hard-to-reach areas in the country (MOH, 2011, 2013, 2014). Although, the construction of CHPS compounds and zones are vital community-level interventions for the provision of maternal health care services, the problems with long distance travels, poor road networks, household poverty and lack of transportation could prevent pregnant women from accessing health care in CHPS.

Although, there are several studies on the effects of individual factors on maternal health service utilization in Ghana, very little attention has been paid to community-level characteristics and its impact on maternal health outcomes (see e.g., Abor et al., 2011; Doku et al., 2012; Gyimah et al., 2006). The lack of understanding surrounding community-level factors can hamper the efforts made in training health personnel and deploying them to remote areas in Ghana. The few scholarly articles that have explored the impact of communities; usually consisting of small sample sizes using qualitative research practices (see e.g., Moyer et al., 2012; Moyer et al., 2013a; Dako-Gyeke et al., 2013; Ganle, 2014). The results of these studies, therefore, lack generalizability, making it difficult to apply it in predicting the wellbeing of most pregnant women in Ghana.

This research study examines the influence of:

 Community-level factors (place of residence, distance to health facility, poor road networks, and community poverty) as well as;

- Individual-level factors (age, marital status, parity, religion, ethnicity, educational status of women and that of their partners' and household wealth index) on maternal health outcomes in Ghana.
- 3.) Review policy documents on maternal and child health care in Ghana with respect to ANC, facility-based delivery and postnatal care will be done to better understand government policies to improve maternal care
- 4.) Influence of policies on individual and community-level factors on maternal health care services among pregnant women in Ghana.

The study utilizes the GDHS 2014 data set, in addition to a comprehensive review of policy documents on maternal and child health care in Ghana with respect to ANC, facility-based delivery, and postnatal care. Utilizing the most recent GDHS data provides the opportunity to examine the impacts of community-level determinants beyond individual-level factors on maternal health outcomes in Ghana. It is hoped that the findings of this study will inform policy makers about the need to develop community-level interventions in addressing the maternal health challenges facing the country.

#### **1.2 Objective of the study**

The aim of this study is to explore data from the 2014 GDHS to better understand the influences of individual and community-level factors on maternal health outcomes among pregnant women in Ghana in relation to the use of three specific health services: ANC, facility-based delivery or supervised delivery and postnatal care. In addition, review of policy documents on maternal and child health care in Ghana with respect to ANC, facility-based delivery and postnatal care will be done to better understand government policies to improve maternal care;

and the reality of lack resources to improve community-level facilities. By using nationally representative data sets from GDHS 2014, this study provides a new perspective that fills a knowledge gap by providing insight into the effect of community-level factors on maternal health outcomes. This research study contributes to the growing body of literature on maternal health in Ghana.

#### **1.3 Research Questions**

This research aims to address the following questions:

- In what ways do individual and community-level factors determine the uptake of maternal health services (ANC, facility-based delivery, and postnatal care) aimed at improving maternal health outcomes in Ghana?
- 2) What policies exist for safe pregnancy and child delivery in Ghana?
- 3) How do these policies address or influence the effects of individual and community level factors on maternal health care services among pregnant women in Ghana?

#### 1.4 The significance of the study

This study is valuable to healthcare providers in reproductive and child health, research and policy-making. In terms of practice, the study suggests strategies that will assist health professionals to improve the uptake of maternal health care services among pregnant mothers to avoid pregnancy and child birth-related complications. The result of this study might help shape experts' knowledge on the challenges confronting pregnant women in their quest for quality maternal health care services in all regions in Ghana. Quality maternal health care is important to both the mother and the unborn child. Therefore, all impediments associated with the provision and usage of such services by women must be overcome to ensure healthy pregnancy outcomes, especially among the urban slums and rural areas. In addition, research results from the study may also inform policy makers and donor agencies on the causes of the regional differences in maternal and infant health in Ghana, particularly in the peri-urban and rural Ghana. This will be done through presentations to policy makers in the MOH-Ghana, and various donor agencies. Also, copies of the research findings will be given to the policy makers and donor agencies for their perusal. This will help to promote evidence-based policy-making to address the challenges women face while pregnant, specifically the inadequacy of medical professionals and community health facilities to care for pregnant women.

Finally, this study contributes to knowledge in maternal and child health care; and serves as a reference document for future research on reproductive health in Ghana.

#### **1.5 Research Setting**

Ghana is located on the West African coast of the continent of Africa with a total land area of 238,537 square kilometres (see Fig. 1 for details). Ghana is surrounded by three Frenchspeaking countries; Togo on the east, Burkina Faso on the north and northwest, and Côte d'Ivoire on the west. The Gulf of Guinea lies to the south and stretches across the 560-kilometre coastline. The highest mountain in Ghana is Mt. Afadjato, 884 metres above sea level, and it is situated in the Akuapem-Togo ranges, particularly, on the western part of the Volta River. Ghana has three ecological zones; they include "the low, sandy coastal plains, with quite a few rivers and streams; the middle and western parts of the country, characterised by a heavy canopy of semi-deciduous rainforests, with many streams and rivers; and a northern savannah, which is drained by the Black and White Volta Rivers. The Volta Lake, created by the hydroelectric dam in the East, is one of the largest artificial lakes in the world" (GSS, 2015, p.1). See figure 1 below for details.

Figure 1. Map of Ghana



Source: Atlas Ghana (2012)

Ghana gained independence from British colonial rule on the 6<sup>th</sup> of March in 1957, and became a republic on the 1<sup>st</sup> of July in 1960 with Accra as its administrative and political capital. It was formerly called the Gold Coast with Cape Coast as it capital. Ghana operates a multi-party democracy with an executive president who is elected for a term of four years with a maximum of two terms. Ghana elects it members of parliament every four years with support of the judiciary, and the media (GSS, 2015). Ghana has ten (10) administrative regions. These are Western, Central, Greater Accra, Volta, Eastern, Ashanti, Brong Ahafo, Northern, Upper East, and Upper West. The regional capitals of the various regions in Ghana are Sekondi-Takoradi, Cape Coast, Accra, Ho, Koforidua, Kumasi, Sunyani, Tamale, Bolgatanga and Wa, respectively. Ghana's population was projected at 27 million in 2014 (GSS 2013a). About 50 percent of the Ghana's population are found in the following regions; Ashanti, Eastern, and Greater Accra. The Upper East is the least populated region among the ten, which accounts for only 2 percent of the total population of Ghana. These regions are further divided into 216 districts to safeguard fair distribution of resource and effective administrative work at the local level or district level (GSS, 2013b; GSS, 2015).

Ghana is made up of numerous ethnic groups, with the Akans being the majority group (48 percent) which results in power relations. This is followed by the Mole-Dagbani (17 percent), Ewe (14 percent), Ga-Dangme (7 percent), and others (GSS, 2015). Ghana is predominantly a Christian country with about 71.2 percent of the population being followers of the various Christian denominations in the country. Islam is the second most recognized religion in Ghana forming about 17.6% of the population, with a small percentage of the Ghanaian populate being traditionalist (5.2 %) or not affiliated to any religion (5.3%). The majority of Christians are found in southern Ghana whereas Moslems are dominant in the three Northern regions. The Northern regions and most Moslem communities are associated with low socioeconomic status compared to the regions in Southern Ghana, and Christians in general.

Nonetheless, most rural and urban slum areas in Southern Ghana are associated with abject poverty and poor provision of maternal health care services (GSS, 2012, 2015).

Approximately 45 percent of the active work force in Ghana is employed in the agriculture industry, and 41 percent are in the services industry. Majority of the self-employed people living in rural areas are involved in agriculture; while those living in urban areas are wage earners (GSS, 2014, 2015). Cocoa is the primary export commodity in Ghana, which is followed closely with gold and timber. These commodities are supported by the export of non-traditional commodities such as pineapples, bananas, yams, and cashew nuts. Ghana in 2010 started extracting crude oil in larger quantities, making Ghana one of the fastest growing middle-income economies in sub-Sahara Africa (Kastning, 2011; GSS, 2015; Cooke et al., 2016).

The economy of Ghana has grown steadily by about 7% annually since 2005 with a relatively high per capita income. However, this increase in economic growth has not translated into higher income for everyone; high levels of inequalities continue to exist, with high poverty levels in the rural and peri-urban areas compared to the urban centers (GSS, 2014; Cooke et al., 2016). According to the 6th Ghana Living Standards Survey, 29.5% men are engaged in wage employment in contrast to women (11.7%). A large number of women are engaged in household tasks without receiving any remuneration for it (GSS, 2014). This is not surprising since a higher proportion of men (18.60%) are enrolled in tertiary educational institutions compared to women (12.42%). Moreover, there is a significant gap in school enrolment between rural and urban Ghana in all levels of education (GSS, 2010). Significant improvements have been seen in the lives of individuals living in the bottom 10% since 2006 compared to other decades, but the high inequality rate in Ghana continuous to hamper poverty reduction in Ghana (Cooke et al., 2016).

The MOH Ghana is responsible for the health of the citizenry in Ghana through the formulation of health policies, setting standards for the delivery of health care in the country. The MOH also provides strategic direction for health delivery services and mobilizes both human and financial resources for health care delivery in the entire country. The MOH monitors and evaluates the health service delivery by the GHS, the teaching hospitals, other health agencies, development partners and the private sector. The GHS is an autonomous executive agency directorate responsible for the implementation of national policies under the control of MOH through its governing council (the Ghana Health Service Council). The GHS has eleven (11) directorates. Some of which are Office of the Director General, Family Health, Finance, Health Administration and Support Services, Human Resources, Institutional Care, Internal Audit. Others include Policy, Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation; Public Health, Research and Development; Supplies, and Stores and Drugs Management (GHS Web, 2015).

The GHS has 10 regional health directorates located in the ten administrative regions, which ensures decentralization of health care delivery in Ghana. Therefore, the health services structure in Ghana is integrated as one that goes down the hierarchy from the national level to the sub-district level and vice versa. The regional health directorates house its office in the tenregional capitals and the district health directorates are housed in district capitals of the 216 districts. The GHS is structured through the afore-mentioned levels to develop appropriate strategies and set technical guidelines to achieve the Ghana national policy goals or objectives.

The mandate of the GHS is as follows: to ensure proper management and administration of resources within the health sector, to promote healthy living and good health habits for all Ghanaian; to create effective and efficient mechanisms for disease surveillance, prevention and control in Ghana, and to determine health service charges for Ghanaians with the approval of the Minister of Health. Other roles of the GHS include the delivery of in-service training and continuing health education in Ghana and the performance of any additional functions applicable to the promotion, protection and restoration of health in Ghana.

The GHS runs a Priority Health Intervention programs to enhance the well-being of Ghanaians which includes disease control, services, surveillance and intersectoral collaboration and action. The disease control department oversees the following programs: HIV/AIDS and STI Prevention and Control, Tuberculosis (TB) and Buluri Ulcer Control, Malaria Control, Guinea worm Eradication, Expanded Program on Immunization (EPI) including Polio Eradication and Measles Elimination, and Non-Communicable Disease Prevention and Control. The service areas include Maternal and Reproductive Health Services, Child and Adolescent Health Services, and Accident and Emergency Services.

The focus of this study is on one of the priority areas listed in the services category which is Maternal and Reproductive Health Care Services in the ten regions of Ghana.

#### **1.6 Thesis Organization**

The thesis is organized into six (6) chapters, including this introductory chapter. Chapter two (2) provides the review of related studies and the conceptual framework. This is followed by chapter three (3) which explains the methods employed for the study. Chapter four (4) focuses on the results and chapter five (5) examines policy documents and includes analyses. Chapter six (6) provides discussions of the empirical results of the study, a summary of key findings, as well as policy implications, conclusions and recommendations.

# **Chapter 2**

#### 2.0 Literature Review

The focus of the literature review is to position my research in relation to existing reproductive health literature. The goal is also to probe further into what has not yet been considered or explored. There is a growing body of literature on maternal healthcare, especially in the developing world. Many of these studies have focused on the causes of maternal deaths and factors that affect utilization of maternal healthcare services by women.

This chapter is organized under five main sub-headings. The first section examines global trends of inequities in maternal healthcare in developing countries. The second section focuses on a review of studies on childbirth and post-natal complications amongst women. The third section reviews past studies on the living conditions and socio-cultural aspects in women's decision-making process on maternal health outcomes. The fourth section of the review focuses on community-level factors and support systems needed to improve maternal health outcomes. The final section of this chapter covers the conceptual framework used for the study.

#### 2.1 The global trend of inequities in maternal healthcare

Wide gaps still exist in the accessibility and provision of prenatal, perinatal and postpartum care for mothers and infants in nations worldwide (Duysburgh et al., 2015; WHO, 2014). Even in a high-income country, like the United States, women continue to suffer varying degrees of maternal morbidity during labor and the postpartum period due to socio-economic disparity and lack of access to health care for women in certain communities, and ethnic groups (Callaghan, Creanga & Kuklina, 2012).

In 2013, the global maternal mortality was estimated as 289 000 deaths (WHO, 2015). The global maternal mortality ratio (MMR) of 210 deaths/100,000 live births remain extremely high, with about 99% of these deaths occurring in developing nations and the majority taking place SSA (Srivastava et al., 2015; WHO, 2015 & WHO, UNICEF, 2012). Pregnancy and childbirth are the leading causes of death and disability among women of reproductive age in developing nations with almost half occurring in SSA (Ashford, 2013; Adu-Bonsaffoh et al., 2013; Asamoah et al., 2011 & Alvarez et al., 2009). Although SSA accounts for almost half of the total global maternal deaths, there are no simple solutions to improve the high MMR. Improvements require more holistic approaches and not merely change to health care delivery (Alvarez et al., 2009; Moyer, 2012; WHO, 2015). The reasons for these poor outcomes are a result of weaknesses in the health systems in the region, failing to provide the needed care to expectant mothers, and lack of willingness on the part of governments to support initiatives that benefit the welfare of women (Alvarez et al., 2009; Moyer, 2012). Duysburgh et al. (2013) have also stated the lack of health facilities, skilled workers, and equipment to monitor the progress of pregnancy in rural communities of developing countries of SSA are some of the reasons for high maternal and infant mortality.

Similar to Ghana, previous studies have shown that the use of maternal health care services is very low in India and Bangladesh. This has been attributed to disparities in the provision of health care services, coupled with the low rates of education of women and low socio-economic status of women. These factors prevent women from accessing maternal and reproductive health care services, which have resulted in the high rates of maternal mortality and morbidity in the two countries (Padmanaban et al., 2009; Edmonds et al., 2012; Sanneving et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 2013; Singh et al., 2014). The disparities in both countries are compounded by long distance travels and the poor road networks from one community to the next available health facility in rural areas; subsequently resulting in high cost of travel to facilities (Kumar et al., 2012; Edmonds et al., 2012). The maternal mortality figures for both countries in 2010 were considered to be one of the highest by the WHO, however, the estimates for both countries were significantly improved by the end of 2015 (WHO, 2015).

Olusegun et al. (2012) has attributed the high rates of deaths among pregnant women and their newborns in Nigeria to poor socio-economic development, weak health care system and socio-cultural barriers to maternal healthcare utilization. The study suggested that improved child survival intervention and expert obstetric care should be designed to save women during the periods of pregnancy, childbirth and post-natal period. Socio-cultural inequities have also been indicated as influencing poor health outcomes, particularly during pregnancy and after childbirth in Nigeria (Ndep, 2014; Olusegun et al., 2012; Sialubanje et al., 2015). The 2014 MMR estimates for Nigeria (560 deaths /100 000 live births) support the above statement (WHO & UNFPA, 2014), and highlights how women in SSA are dying as a result of poor health systems and the lack of governance to develop community-level interventions to prevent maternal deaths.

In short, maternal health care depends on the entire health system of a nation and on the availability of human resources and logistics to run an effective service to improve maternal health outcomes. The wide inequalities that exist in the use of maternal health services between various geographical regions in developing countries account for the high MMR in SSA (Srivastava et al., 2015; WHO & UNICEF, 2012; Ashford, 2013; Adu-Bonsaffoh et al., 2013; Asamoah et al., 2011& Alvarez et al., 2009). High MMR will continue to prevail in SSA if the health systems are not strengthened at all levels to provide comprehensive care to women during

pregnancy, labour and postpartum (Alvarez et al., 2009). Also, the lifetime experiences of women in SSA with respect to societal neglect and deprivation due to patriarchy need to be changed, and offer women the needed support in the fight against high MMR (African Progress Panel, 2010). This means that education of girls should be considered a right in the sub-region and designed to empower women to take charge of their sexuality and reproductive lives.

Researchers have identified evidence-based health policy as an approach to significantly reduce the global maternal and childbirth mortality and morbidity (Munar et al., 2015; Bose et al., 2015 & Kendall & Langer, 2015). Participants in a recent study echoed the need for health systems approach to critically examine the root causes of maternal deaths in developing countries, and suggest using pragmatic interventions to improve the maternal health problems in the milieu of such nations (Kendall & Langer, 2015). According to Bose and colleagues, improvement in public policy and public health interventions in nations with poor pregnancy outcomes are vital in reducing maternal and infant mortality and morbidity. Equally important public policies are required to ensure a rigorous health registration systems and maintenance of vital records to provide valuable data to monitor pregnancy and health outcomes by international and local communities (Bose et al., 2015; Say et al., 2014). The availability of data on maternal death, allows for the analysis of cases among various groups involved in the care of pregnant women at different levels of the health care system. This enables experts and researchers to determine where inappropriate actions or gaps exist that need to be addressed in the future to avoid maternal mortality or morbidity (Iyer et al., 2013). Again, it is recommended that health workers at all levels in the health care system keep full records on the causes of maternal mortality, including socio-demographic characteristics of all mothers who die from complications of childbirth (such as anesthesia, obstetric surgery, embolism, and uterine

rupture). Proper data will make it easier to identify the causes of deaths and be better able to design programs to reduce the rampant pregnancy-related deaths, particularly in the district hospitals and community health centers (Asamoah, 2014).

#### 2.2 Childbirth and post-natal complications among women globally

Global data on maternal health outcomes indicate that women are still dying from pregnancy-related and childbirth-related complications. Many of these deaths occurred in developing countries, despite the MDG 5 goal to reduce maternal deaths by the end of 2015 and beyond (Ohaja, 2014; WHO, 2014). One of the main reasons why this happens to women in poorly resourced countries is the inadequacy of human resources for obstetric care and lack of training and supervision for traditional birth attendants (TBAs) who perform these services in the rural areas. Although women in rural areas prefer TBAs, their inability to detect post-partum complications puts the lives of the pregnant women in danger (Mahiti et al., 2015). Again, women's perception of TBAs and the cultural acceptability of service delivery in their own environment, together with the low cost of delivery put them at the risk for increased complications associated with childbirth and post-partum care (Ebuehi, & Akintujoye, 2012). Aminu et al. (2014) identified the following factors as some of the causes of stillbirth in developing countries: maternal disease, congenital anomalies, intrapartum causes and trauma, umbilical causes, and placental conditions. The authors, however, concluded that the lack of antenatal services in developing countries, due to the absence of health facilities and skilled attendants, were the main reasons for the numerous stillbirths. It should be noted, however, that in rural areas, access to skilled birth attendants is limited and women have to depend on TBAs for assistance during labor and delivery.

For some researchers, post-natal complications among women of childbearing age in developing countries are the consequences of insufficient access to emergency obstetric care (EmOC) at the community level (Essendi et al., 2011; Holmer et al., 2015). The existing structural social inequalities in addition to the absence of EmOC facilities in various communities may explain the reason for high pregnancy-related complications in developing countries. Furthermore, considerations of the social contexts in poorly resourced countries, such as female education, poverty reduction programs, well laid out road networks and employment opportunities are identified as factors that improve maternal health outcomes. Unfortunately, these factors are absent in several developing countries (Holmer et al., 2015). Similarly, the lack of autonomy on the part of women in decision-making at the family level is also an issue. For example, dealing with issues of autonomy surrounding the management of women's pregnancies and labor is a major factor contributing to childbirth and postnatal complications in developing countries (Essendi et al., 2011). Furthermore, women are not able to make decisions about their own care throughout pregnancy, but instead have to listen to their husbands or mother-in-law and this may predispose them to pregnancy-related complications. This can be linked to the first stage of the three delays that result in maternal mortality and morbidity according to Thaddeus & Maine (1994) - the delay in decision to seek care. The first stage of delay in turn affects the other two delays, which are the delay in reaching the appropriate facility and delay in receiving adequate care in the facility. For instance, Thaddeus and Maine argued:

> "the delay in seeking care is related to having the knowledge to recognize a life-threatening problem and making the decision to go for care. The delay in reaching care results from inaccessibility of health services due to distance, poor infrastructure, lack of money, or other barriers to access. The delay in

receiving care, refers to problems in content and quality of maternal health care services" (Thaddeus & Maine, 1994; cited in GSS/GHS, 2009 p.1).

#### 2.3 Maternal health care in Ghana

The general state of maternal health care in Ghana is similar to other developing countries such as India, Bangladesh, Nigeria, and many other countries in SSA. For instance, in Ghana, maternal mortality represents 14% of all deaths among females and this calls for structural changes to ensure quality of care throughout pregnancy and childbirth (Ganle et al., 2015; Ganle, 2014). Ghana has made strides in reducing MMR from 740 deaths/100 000 live births in the 1990s to 319/100,000 live births in 2015. Notwithstanding this achievement, the MMR for Ghana could be further reduced if low rates of female education, patriarchal values, religious beliefs, and poor road infrastructures, in hard to reach areas, are prioritized at the community level by governments over the years (Daniels et al., 2013; Ganle et al., 2015; Banchani & Tenkorang, 2014; Abugri-Akum, 2013 & Moyer et al., 2014). Adequate health infrastructure, human resources and adequate road networks at the community level could reduce the three delays in childbirth outlined by Thaddeus & Maine (1994), and are now considered the root causes of maternal deaths namely; delay in seeking care, delay in arrival at a health facility and delay in the provision of adequate care.

In addition, other empirical studies (see Dako-Gyeke et al., 2013 and Moyer, 2012) in urban Accra have indicated that facility-based delivery rates have increased, but maternal mortality rates continue to rise, despite the availability of modern health facilities in Accra, the capital of Ghana, to deal with the situation. These studies attributed this problem to the ingrained belief systems of pregnant women and therefore, suggested that women were reluctant to use modern facilities for maternal care services. The studies recommended that practical and

18

accessible national health policies are needed to educate women on the importance of the uptake of maternal services and ensure there is a clear reporting system for client complaints. These changes could create an enabling environment which would serve to improve the situation in urban Accra (Dako-Gyeke et al., 2013; Moyer, 2012). However, these authors did not take into account the inability of the women to pay for indirect service charges in public health facilities, full user fees in some private health facilities and lack of client satisfaction as important deterrents as to why women fail to use modern health facilities. Also, long distance travel to health facilities, lack of privacy, poor quality of care and the difficulty in traveling with their spouse to during labor could deter pregnant women from facility delivery. The failure of pregnant women to use facility-based delivery could also depend on their lack of understanding of complications associated with pregnancy and childbirth and how best skilled attendants can reduce or avoid such risks in health care facilities (Koblinsky et al., 2006; Bazzano et al., 2008; Moyer et al., 2013). This makes it difficult for some pregnancy-related complications to be diagnosed and treated. Mortality measures are useful in recognizing the health status of a given society over time that is beneficial in improving maternal and child health outcomes in Ghana (GSS, 2015).

Review of literature on childbirth and post-natal complications in Ghana also point to pregnancy-induced hypertensive disorders and hemorrhage as the major causes of death among pregnant women compared to other causes within health facilities and communities. However, it is important to note that poverty and lack of awareness on the complications of pregnancy are important causes behind both pregnancy-induced hypertensive disorders and hemorrhage at all levels of the Ghanaian society (Der et al., 2013; Asamoah et al., 2011). The results of the Ghana Maternal Health Survey (GMHS) in 2007 cited hemorrhage as the largest single cause of

19

maternal deaths. In addition, induced-abortion according to GMHS, accounted for more than one in ten maternal deaths. The obstetric risk from induced abortion is topmost among young women age 15-24 (GSS & GHS, 2009). Rominski et al. (2014) reports that women who are educated, young and unmarried are more likely to seek abortion services than women who are not educated, older and married which confirms the findings of GMHS 2007. In Ghana, the belief system of older and married women could prevent them from seeking abortion services during pregnancy.

Unsafe abortions have been identified as one of the main causes of maternal death in Ghana accounting for about 10% of all maternal deaths; a significant number of women who survive, live with several degrees of complications (perforation of the uterus, bleeding, infections, and lower abdominal pains). The most affected age group is 15-24 years (GSS/GHS, 2009). The increase in rates of unsafe abortions among women of reproductive age are often a result of lack of money to access professional services, non-availability of the services, and Ghana's inability to integrate safe abortion into national reproductive health policy until 2003 (IPAS, 2008). Religious beliefs also contribute to the use of unsafe abortions as a means of hiding it to avoid public stigma (GSS/GHS, 2009; Henry & Fayorsey, 2002; IPAS, 2008; Sedgh, 2010; Morhee & Morhee, 2006; Senah, 2003). Furthermore, education around family planning is low and often women have no choice but to access illegal and unsafe abortion to address unwanted pregnancies (Oduro & Otsin, 2014; Rominski et al., 2014). Rominski et al. (2014) also identified the organization of Ghanaian health system as barriers to safe abortion practices; and acknowledged individual and community-level factors for the rise in the practice of unsafe abortions in rural Ghana. Aniteye (2012) indicates the openness of public health facilities and the making comprehensive abortion care accessible for a fee to all women interested in abortion

services in Ghana would stop them from using the clandestine services of untrained abortion providers. She further suggests that service providers need to change their attitudes towards their clients by providing non-judgmental, confidential, user-friendly, quality abortion services that respect the patient. This would reduce the high number of maternal deaths resulting from unsafe abortions in Ghana (Aniteye, 2012).

In addition, two recent studies in Ghana have revealed that social factors delay pregnant women in accessing facility delivery. Some researchers have identified that men are not directly involved in issues regarding pregnancy and childbirth as a result of societal norms, but their role as family heads and having the power to make decisions concerning place of delivery can lead to complications (Moyer et al., 2013, 2014). One of the reasons which stood out was that women with low socio-economic backgrounds who lived in deprived areas in Ghana refused to utilize health facilities in their communities due to high direct and indirect costs, lack of information on service availability and past negative experiences with health providers (Koblinsky et al., 2006; Hounton et al., 2008; Bazzano et al., 2008; Moyer et al., 2013). In addition, socio-cultural influences on expectant mothers at the community-level, plays an important role in preventing the use of skilled birth attendants. For example, most women residing in rural communities and peri-urban areas in Ghana prefer home delivery to facility-based delivery due to the fear of losing their social status, privacy, and control over the birth process (Bazzano et al., 2008; GSS, 2009; Asamoah, 2014).

Another source of childbirth and post-natal complications in Ghana is anemia in pregnancy, which is mostly caused by malaria infection, worm infections, HIV, sickle cell disease, and poverty due to poor living conditions (Wilson et al., 2011). The living conditions of women and socio-cultural factors at the community-level impact pregnancy outcomes and needs to be addressed by experts to reduce childbirth complications in Ghana.

#### 2.4 Living conditions and socio-cultural outcomes in women's decision-making process

The importance of decision-making with regard to prenatal, perinatal and postnatal care for pregnant woman cannot be over-emphasized in the global fight against maternal mortality. Informed decision-making in obstetric care among pregnant women is considered essential and research has revealed its benefit to the mother, baby, family, and society (Goldberg, 2009). Although women's role in decision-making requires respect for their care, health providers need to improve their communication with pregnant women before, during, and after labor (Goldberg & Shorten, 2014). The pregnant women are unable to command such respect due to imbalance of power between women and health providers within health facilities, especially in the developing world (Goldberg & Shorten, 2014; Declercq et al., 2013; Haque et al., 2011; Le Ray et al., 2008).

Women's empowerment is considered one of the most important factors to reduce maternal mortality and morbidity in the developing world. Empowerment has been defined as the ability to make strategic life choices in a situation where this ability had been previously denied them. Women's empowerment in this context means women themselves must be the main actors in the process of change to enhance their wellbeing (Malhotra &Schuler, 2005; cited in Paruzzolo et al., 2010).

Also, female education and job security are vital in empowering women to be autonomous in decision-making regarding their reproductive life. Likewise, women's financial autonomy has a positive correlation with institutional and facility-based delivery (Asamoah et al., 2014; GHS, 2006).

In addition, Pell et al. (2013) identified reproductive concerns such as women's inability to conceive, complications from previous pregnancy, ill health, parity and age as important determinants influencing women's decision to use skilled attendants during pregnancy. The inadequacy of health facilities and properly trained professionals to provide women with safe and adequate services at the community-level deprive most women from benefiting from informed decisions. Moreover, long distance travels, cultural factors and poverty thwarts pregnant women from accessing maternal health services from other communities. This accounts for the low utilization of maternal health care (Simkhada et al., 2008; Pell et al., 2013 Dhakal et al., 2007).

Furthermore, Ononokpono and colleagues (2014) underscore that many pregnant women are at a disadvantage in accessing antenatal and postnatal services due to inequalities in service delivery in the local communities of developing countries. Ross et al. (2008) added that the limited services rendered to expectant mothers in rural settings of developing countries lack the standard quality of care, which varies from one community to the other. This could explain why the incidence of maternal mortality and morbidity is very high in under-developed nations compared to developed nations. There is need for structural developments to reduce the excessive social inequities at the community-levels to improve the lives of this population.

For some authors, the discrepancy in maternal health outcomes between the developing and developed world do not completely rest within the provision of health care services, but the poor living conditions of women (Osorio et al., 2014; Yebyo et al., 2014). The authors further revealed that women's autonomy at both the household and community level is very important in improving maternal health outcomes in developing countries.

In Ghana, the living conditions of women and their decision-making attitudes during pregnancy at all levels are not different from that of other developing countries. This reflects the poor maternal health outcomes in the country. For instance, cultural beliefs and past negative experiences of expectant mothers with health professionals stop them from the continuous use of maternal health services in their subsequent pregnancies (Lori et al., 2014; Ganle, 2014; Abor et al., 2011). For example, it is reported that some expectant mothers in rural areas avoid the use of maternal health care services upon the advice of their mother-in-law (Senah, 2003; Mantey, 2013). Again, scarce infrastructure and human resources for maternal healthcare delivery at the community-level have been identified as one of the reasons for the high maternal deaths in Ghana (Banchani & Tenkorang, 2014; Abugri-Akum, 2013 & Daniels et al., 2013; Lambon-Quayefio & Owoo, 2014). Furthermore, Esena & Sappor (2013) indicated that while there was an improvement in the rates of skilled delivery in Ga East Municipality of Ghana 29.8% (2008) to 31.6% (2009) and 37.5% in 2010, these were significantly lower than the national rate of 68% in 2011 (UNICEF, 2014). This is true for many other parts in Ghana despite the many maternal education programs rolled out by the Ministry of Health (MOH) and the Ghana Health Services (GHS) (Maternal Health Channel, 2014).

Research on psychological and social barriers to facility-based delivery in Ghana has demonstrated that women who lack autonomy but stay in communities who are in support of facility-based delivery are more likely to deliver at health facilities. On the other hand, women who lack autonomy and live in communities where pregnant women do not patronize health facilities for delivery services, are more likely not to delivery in health care settings. The study finally added that women who are educated and autonomous in decision-making are more likely to deliver in health facilities (Speizer et al., 2014).

The problem of the low maternal health care utilization and facility-based delivery in Ghana is not related simply to the lack of awareness and understanding by expectant mothers; religious beliefs also impact maternal health service utilization in Ghana (Gyimah et al., 2006). The authors suggested that Christian women are more likely to access healthcare than women who are Traditionalists and Moslems. This is because some Christians norms and characteristics may encourage positive attitudes toward the uptake of maternal health services. The authors suggested the need to involve religious leaders in policy formulation and health education programs so that they would in turn educate their members on the importance of maternal healthcare utilization.

Banchani & Tenkorang (2014) studied occupational types and antenatal care attendance among women in Ghana and concluded that occupational and educational differences influence both the likelihood and timing of accessing antenatal care among expectant mothers. The authors found that the educated and affluent women in Ghana are more likely to meet the WHO recommended number of antenatal visits; and do that within the first trimester of pregnancy for proper screening, diagnosis and possible treatment compared to the uneducated and the poor.

# 2.5 Community-level factors and support systems needed to improve maternal health services

The reason for poor pregnancy outcomes can be attributed to the following three factors: systemic/social factors, health system failures, and community-level factors and individual-level factors. Improvements in the social fabrics and health systems at all levels of a country may contribute to an increase in the uptake of maternal health service.

#### 2.5.1 Systemic/Social factors and maternal health outcomes

Maternal health care services do not solely depend on the health systems of a nation, but also on the social fabric and infrastructure of the country such as adequate road networks, proper transportation systems, social insurance schemes and good living conditions. Positive maternal health outcomes rest on the effectiveness of the health systems at all levels (primary, secondary and tertiary), the health-seeking behaviors of women and the availability of good social conditions at the community level (Parkhurst et al., 2005).

It is also evident that positive relationships exist between paid maternity leave and the uptake of maternal health care services, and this improves maternal health and the wellbeing of women (Aitken et al., 2015). Wellbeing is determined by the health and social services we receive, as well as our ability to obtain adequate living conditions such as quality education, food and housing, among other factors (Mikkonen & Raphael, 2010). That is, wellbeing does not exist in a vacuum, but helps create an enabling healthy environment that allows individuals to realize their ambitions, satisfy their desires and deal with their environments to live a productive, and fruitful life (WHO, 1949, 1986 & Breslow, 2006). This means that national-level factors such as economic development and good policies to reduce inequalities and increase job opportunities

for women can improve maternal health outcomes (Boyle et al., 2006). Thus, women's employment can strengthen their autonomy in decision-making concerning the use of maternal health services. However, Achia and Mageto (2015) have contended that the provision of shortterm solutions to household poverty does not ensure changes in the health seeking behaviour of expectant mothers over time. The authors suggested that viable economic ventures directed at the community level to offer economic empowerments to women, would help in intervening household poverty in the long run.

But, the aforementioned claim is different in Ghana with regard to women's education and formal employment. For example, the 2010 population and housing census (PHC) for Ghana indicated that women in paid employment stood at 32.7 percent, a marginal increase from the 2000 PHC figure of 30.1 percent, with the problem being worse in rural Ghana (GSS, 2012). This means that majority of women in Ghana lack money to support their husbands in times of need to improve their wellbeing. The financial constraints of some women in Ghana could stop them from seeking maternal health care any time their partners refuse to offer them the needed assistance. Pregnant women's inability to access maternal health care services due to lack of money have implications for themselves and their unborn babies. This problem is more serious for women who are the head of the household and have no one to depend on during emergencies. The result is that these women seek the services of TBAs in their communities, which is less expensive and skillful, instead of skilled birth attendants (Asamoah et al., 2014; GHS, 2006).

#### 2.5.2 Health Systems Failure

An effective health system delivers universal quality health care services to all people within nations with or without financial hardship. But, not all health systems that provide universal health care based on need and not ability to pay are effective because they are subjected to strong forces and influences that usually override rational policy making amongst nations. Good leadership and robust health policies are therefore, needed to provide balance responses to ensure equitable access to people-centred care. By this means individuals at the national, regional and local levels can have access to a wide range of health care services at affordable cost, which varies across nations (WHO, 2010, 2012). Health systems thrive on health care financing, adequate human resources for health care, and the provision of health infrastructure as well as effective and safe road networks. Fair distribution of resources at every level of the health care system is central to the survival of pregnant women and their newborns. That is, the promotion of social development, health equity and health system strengthening are necessary to ensure quality of care to avoid preventable maternal and child deaths (Souza et al., 2014).

The provisions of human resources for healthcare, infrastructure development, and community health education have been identified by recent studies as essential in reducing maternal and infant mortality in developing countries (Kyei-Nimakoh et al., 2016). For instance, training providers in emergency obstetric care, transportation and communication infrastructure such as ambulance services, hospital equipment, and the building of healthcare infrastructures are crucial in achieving set goals (Austin et al., 2015; Uzondu et al., 2015). This could only be realized through the availability of resources and social support networks within various

communities, which is still a problem in developing countries. Even though, in some developing countries a larger proportion of pregnant women visit health facilities, the poor quality of care is a major determinant of poor maternal health outcomes, which is attributable to work overload and non-availability of skilled attendants (Souza et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, Mucunguzi et al. (2014) have indicated that human resources for health care alone cannot be considered as the main asset to run an effective and efficient health care delivery. Efficient health care delivery cannot happen without an effective transportation system to augment the efforts of health professionals. The study also outlined that the availability of effective transport systems at the community levels result in better pregnancy outcomes in relation to stillbirths and post-partum complications among mothers and their babies (Mucunguzi et al., 2014).

Currently, the Ministry of Health (MOH) and the Ghana Health Services (GHS) is faced with several challenges in scaling up maternal health care services to ensure universal access to all women in Ghana. The challenges include difficulty in the placement of skilled personnel, supply logistics, staff accommodation, poor transportation and the lack of ambulances for urgent transfer of emergencies to bigger hospitals for better management. The constraints in the distribution of human resources for health care have also resulted in poor quality of care, especially with maternal health care, and women in Ghana are paying the price (UNDP, 2012; Agyemang & Aboagye, 2013). The delivery of health care including maternal health services also comes with difficulties due to the deplorable road networks and long distances linking various communities. Pregnant women and their relatives are therefore faced with transportation difficulties during labor due to the lack of vehicles to convey them to the health facilities (Adu, 2013).

In addition, it has been argued that the delivery of better health care to the people of a nation does not only depend on the MOH and its related agencies, but key sectors of the country, such as road, transport, finance, agriculture as well as water resources and housing sectors. This calls for inter-sectoral collaboration to develop the various sectors of the Ghanaian Economy, especially the road and transport sectors to ensure the effectiveness of the health sector. In the case of Ghana, at least the regional and some district hospitals are well equipped with modern equipment to save pregnant women from dying in times of emergencies. Conversely, owing to the poor road networks and absence of proper referring systems as result of the lack of ambulances to transfer clients from one facility to the other, undue delays result in the deaths of pregnant women (Banchani & Tenkorang, 2014; Esena & Sappor, 2013; Abugri-Akum, 2013; UNDP, 2012).

#### 2.5.3 Community and Individual-level factors

Safe motherhood activities and care are known to make pregnancies safer, but the lack of access to such activities at the community-level results in increased maternal mortality and morbidity. This is not unusual in developing countries, especially in areas where such activities are strongly influenced by socio-cultural factors (Adjei et al., 2015; Rominski et al., 2014; Sundaram et al., 2012; Mote et al., 2010 & Fathalla, 2006). The reason being that access to such services (facility delivery, abortion and post abortion, Caesarean section care) is restricted by the lack of availability of resource persons and health infrastructure. A case in point is highlighted by the recent report by the Ghanaian media on the state of maternal health care services with

respect to emergency Caesarean section in the Okomfo Anokye Teaching hospital (the second largest hospital in Ghana). They suggest the lack of theater space and logistics in the hospital left pregnant women in the hospital corridors to determine their fate. For example, women were operated in turns in the only functional theater, despite the dangers that await them due to lack of resources to safe three or four women simultaneously through Caesarean section (Boateng, 2017). The problem is compounded even further by the uneven distribution of scarce resources in remote communities which in turn widens the existing disparities regarding maternal health care (Dettrick et al., 2014). Health facilities should be provided with the requisite skilled attendants and logistics to work with. This is necessary to avoid the non-availability of care due to the absence of skilled personnel and logistics, which could prevent clients from using health facilities for its intended purposes. The findings of a study in rural Ghana reflect the above claim that many expectant mothers lack the services of skilled birth attendants as a result of the shortage of trained midwives in the country, and the few trained refuses postings to rural Ghana (Lori et al., 2012). As a consequence of the inequitable distribution of such resources, women in rural Ghana continue to lack the services of skilled attendants notwithstanding its importance in reducing maternal and neonatal mortality (UNDP, 2012).

Again, it is reported that social support networks at the community level contribute to positive maternal health outcomes and maternal health utilization (Adams et al., 2015; Lowe & Moore, 2014). For example, community poverty and education according to experts are strong predictors of maternal health care utilization. Communities who have large proportions of women from poor households and low educational backgrounds are less likely to access quality of care beyond their communities due to distance and cultural barriers (Gage, 2007; Ononokpono, 2015). Also, community participatory learning, social networking, and actions are

required to explore investments and ensure that gains in maternal health are improved and sustained through women groups. This is because support networks or social support systems have a positive association with maternal healthcare utilization, the uptake of family planning services and improve neonatal care (Paruzzolo et al., 2010; Younes et al., 2015).

Another important tool identified for developing rapport and partnerships with community leaders in order to gain access for community engagement is community outreach, which has good implications for maternal health care. The involvement of communities is considered very essential in ensuring health equity through service delivery and utilization (Draper et al., 2010; Marston et al., 2013). This according to Cofie et al. (2014) is an essential approach in designing pragmatic solutions to the problem of maternal and under-five mortality; and building referral networks to improve service delivery at the community level. The researchers, however, concluded that the approach is likely to fail in communities that lack basic infrastructure, staffing and logistics needed for sustainability. This emphasizes the importance of community resources and social networks in improving the utilization of maternal and child health care to reduce mortalities. The Maternal Health Channel (MHC) in Ghana, for example, could be used by women's groups to educate pregnant women to use appropriate resources during child birth in their campaign against maternal and infant mortality in the various regions in Ghana. As an illustration, the MHC has travelled the length and breadth of Ghana to educate women on pregnancy and they showcase the difficulty women go through in rural Ghana on their quest to promote safe motherhood on National Television and Radio since 2013. This media broadcast aims to inform individuals and societies on the dangers associated with childbirth if the pregnant mother is not given the needed attention and resources at the community level to safeguard her pregnancy. The MHC is an essential channel that uses other people's experiences

with pregnancy and childbirth to inform the issues and challenges facing Ghana as a nation (MHC, 2014).

#### **2.6 Conceptual Framework**

This section describes the socio-ecological framework used for the study. Ecological models according to Reifsnider et al. (2005) are useful to researchers who study complex community problems such as disparities in maternal health care, which is the focus of this study. The social ecological framework proposed by Bronfenbrenner in 1977 was adopted for this study and focuses on three main components: 1) the individual's perspective of the environment which depends on one's knowledge, attitude, and socioeconomic status; 2) the environment surrounding that individual such as the family members, peers, friends etc.; and 3) the dynamic interaction between the individual and the environment-for example, availability of community health facilities, good road networks, and social health insurance. This implies that the pregnant woman's behavior is affected and shaped by the environment that she resides at three different levels.

First, the pregnant woman's health-seeking behavior could be influenced by her knowledge, perceptions, skills, attitudes and beliefs of maternal health care services in relation to ANC, facility-based delivery and postnatal care. For example, if the pregnant woman holds a positive attitude towards maternal health care utilization, she will likely seek maternal health care service. However, if she holds a negative perception of maternal health care utilization she will likely not patronize maternal health care services.

Second, the pregnant woman does not live in isolation within the environment and this may also influence her health care-seeking behavior. That is, personal relations of the woman including family, friends, intimate partner, and peers as well as the activity of TBAs, and faith organizations in the community could negatively or positively influence the pregnant woman's decision to use maternal health services. If these social networks of people associated with the woman believe and support her in matters regarding maternal health care services, she is more likely to seek health care.

Last, the organizational structures in relation to the provision of health care services, such as health facilities, the availability of human resources, social health insurance and transportation policies within the community in which the pregnant woman resides are fundamental in determining the health seeking behaviour of the woman. The absence of these facilities in the community could jeopardize the health seeking behaviour of the pregnant women. Also, the perceived attitude of the nurses providing care in the various units in the health facilities could influence the health seeking behaviour of the pregnant woman. For instance, nurse-patient relationship that commands reciprocal respect devoid of poor treatment of clients will result in an increase in maternal health care utilization and vice versa. In addition to the aforementioned problems, the socioeconomic status of the woman and her husband could also affect her health seeking behaviour. For instance, the inability of the woman to pay for the cost of transportation and drugs, which are not covered by social health insurance, could stop her from utilizing maternal health services. The understanding of the pregnant woman's health seeking behaviour among the various interconnected components will help in designing intervention strategies to safeguard these problems (Reifsnider et al., 2005).

The ecological framework helps ground the research in a theoretical context by giving a comprehensive view of the dynamic interactions between the pregnant woman and her

environment with respect to her health seeking behaviours. The utilization of maternal health care services is essential to both the pregnant woman and her unborn baby, however the women's immediate environment and her knowledge on pregnancy has strong influence on her behaviour towards care. The availability of resources at the community level and the attitude of health professionals are very crucial in enhancing the pregnant women's health seeking behaviour. That is, the enabling environment with regards to the care of the pregnant woman, which is the summation of the availability and quality of care, and the creation of awareness, is keen in improving pregnancy outcomes.

## **Chapter 3: Methodology**

#### **3.1 Introduction**

This chapter discusses the methods used in this study. It is a mixed method consisting primarily of quantitative analysis of data obtained from the GDHS 2014 survey. It also includes a qualitative analysis of policy documents to get a better insight into the successes or failures of stated objectives for maternal and child health care in Ghana. The chapter is divided into six (6) sections. The first section presents the study design; followed by a description of the study population and the sampling techniques. The third section describes the variables used in this study; while the fourth section presents the data analytical approaches to the quantitative study. The fifth section describes the methodology for document analysis and the final section presents the ethical considerations of the study.

#### **3.2 Quantitative Study Design**

This study employed quantitative techniques to understand the effects of individual and community-level factors on maternal health outcomes among pregnant women in Ghana using data from the 2014 GDHS. Maternal health outcomes in this study included ANC, facility delivery and postnatal care. Quantitative techniques are used for many analytical purposes. Examples include the establishment of the incidence or prevalence of a health problem; health personnel's degree of adherence to a new intervention; or, the users' level of satisfaction with a service.

Quantitative data are collected through surveys and analyzed using statistical tests to determine if the results happened by chance or there was a significant correlation. Quantitative method is often used to identify patterns that can be examined more critically amongst large-

scale surveys or aggregate data (Creswell et al., 2003; Clark et al., 2008; Condelli & Wrigley, 2004; Bowling, 2014). Quantitative methods seek to minimize the role of human judgment in collecting and interpreting evidence that ensures the establishment of a causal relationship among variables under study. It attempts to clarify assumptions regarding theories and builds protections against bias. It also controls for alternative explanations to pave way for generalization and replication of the findings (Clark et al., 2008; Creswell, 2009).

Quantitative research designs are mostly used when examining inter-relationships among variables where theories are being tested (Baskas, 2011; Creswell, 2009). Also, quantitative research methods have strength in dealing with issues of clustering that disentangles individual and group effects on the outcome of interest in studies with larger sample sizes through the use of techniques such as hierarchical linear modeling (e.g., Bryk & Raudenbush, 1992; Osborne, 2000). The quantitative paradigm is the most suitable approach in examining the effects of individual and community-level factors on maternal health outcomes in Ghana and subsequently to be able to devise pragmatic approaches to reduce the existing disparities in maternal and child health care in the country.

#### **3.3 Data and Sampling**

Data from the 2014 Ghana Demographic Health Survey (GDHS) was used to examine the effects of individual and community-level factors on maternal health outcomes among women in the ten regions of Ghana. This was done in relation to the use of three specific health services: ANC, facility-based delivery or supervised delivery and postnatal care in Ghana.

Information from the women in the questionnaire of the 2014 GDHS was used for this study. This questionnaire covers detailed information on women in their reproductive years

(aged 15–49 years) with live births in the 5 years prior to the survey. The DHS is a nationally representative cross-sectional survey conducted in developing countries including Ghana. These surveys constitute one of the richest sources of information presently available to examine the determinants of maternal and child health in developing countries worldwide.

The earliest edition of GDHS was conducted in 1988; and this has been repeated every five years with the current edition undertaken in 2014; the sixth in the country. The primary purpose of the survey is to provide relevant information to monitor the population and health issues in Ghana. This has been of tremendous benefit to Ghana, particularly the academic community, MOH and other stakeholders in tracking the progress of population health of the nation through research. The women's questionnaire of the 2014 GDHS, include information on the demographic characteristics of women, and details of live births, parity, child mortality, history of ANC visits, place and mode of delivery. This is further explained in the questionnaire section of this study.

The 2014 GDHS was conducted by the Ghana Statistical Service (GSS), the Ghana Health Services (GHS) and the National Public Health Reference Laboratory (NPHRL) of the GHS. In addition, financial support for the survey was provided by the government of Ghana and other organizations such as United States Agency for International Development (USAID), the Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria through the Ghana AIDS Commission (GAC) and the National Malaria Control Program (NMCP), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), the United Nations Development Program (UNDP), the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), the International Labor Organization (ILO), the Danish International Development Agency (DANIDA), and the Government of Ghana. ICF International provided technical assistance through the DHS Program, a USAID-funded project offering support and technical assistance in the implementation of population and health surveys in countries worldwide (GSS, 2015).

The 2014 GDHS used a two-stage sample design that allowed estimates of key indicators at the national level, urban and rural areas for each of the ten (10) administrative regions in Ghana. The sampling frame used for the 2014 GDHS is a modernized frame generated from the 2010 Ghana PHC provided by the Ghana Statistical Service (GSS, 2013). That is, the 2014 GDHS sample was designed to provide estimates of population and health indicators including fertility and mortality rates for the country as a whole, taking into consideration the urban and rural areas for each of the ten (10) geographical regions in Ghana. Demographic Health Surveys use clustered sampling designs to avoid over-sampling and under-sampling of respondents. The 2014 GDHS therefore, used clustered sampling designs and applied standardized weights to ensure a representative data across all regions and rural areas in Ghana. Hence, all analysis in this thesis were conducted with sample-weighted data to circumvent any over-sampling or undersampling in the responses among participants of the survey in different regions in Ghana. Further modifications were also made for the selection of participants at the individual and household levels within the various communities in Ghana.

The first stage involved the selection of clusters consisting of enumeration areas (EAs) outlined in the 2010 PHC. An EA is a geographic area covering an average, 145 households and the sampling frame contains information about the EA's location, type of residence (urban or rural), and estimated number of residential households. A total of 427 clusters were selected, 216 in urban areas and 211 in rural areas. These clusters were selected using the EAs; they form the

units of analysis at the community-level. The second stage involved, "a fixed number of 30 households per cluster were selected with an equal probability systematic selection from the newly created household listing" (GSS, 2015 p. 318). Only individuals from the selected households were interviewed for the survey. The survey was conducted in 12,810 residential households, 6,480 in urban areas and 6,330 in rural areas across the ten regions of Ghana. In the households identified (10,214 women: 5,098 urban; 5,116 rural) and 4,175 men (2,061 urban and 2,114) between the ages of 15-49 were selected to complete the survey. The details of the design and selection process are explained in the user's guide of the GDHS 2014 (see e.g. GSS, 2015).

Of the 10,214 women selected originally for the individual interviews, only 9,656 were available, but 9,396 women were interviewed which yielded a response rate of 97 percent for the 2014 GDHS. However, the present study is restricted to 4141 women who had their last pregnancy within five years prior to the survey, and answered questions on ANC, delivery and postnatal care during the survey, meaning respondents who gave birth longer than five years prior to the survey were excluded from the analysis. This was to avoid recall bias in the responses of the women that could affect the outcome of the study.

#### **3.4 Questionnaires**

The questionnaire was administered to women and men who were eligible for the individual interview within the households of the selected clusters (GSS, 2015). The 2014 GDHS used three main questionnaires namely: the household questionnaire, the women's questionnaire and the men's questionnaire. The questionnaires were translated by the GDHS team from the English language into three major local languages that included Akan, Ga, and Ewe. The questionnaires were pre-tested prior to the survey and modified before the actual survey.

Included in the household survey are questions concerning the respondents' socio-economic and demographic characteristics such as age, sex, education, religion, marital status, residence as well as relationship to the head of the household. The survey also gathered data on the characteristics of the household, such as the source of water, type of fire used for cooking, type of toilet facilities, types of building and materials used for the construction of houses and toilets, use and ownership of various durable goods, and use of mosquito nets (GSS, 2015).

The women's questionnaire collected data from respondents aged 15-49 living in selected households earmarked for the survey. The women were asked questions on the following: education, residence, media exposure (radio, television news or print media); reproductive history such as ANC, delivery and postnatal care; knowledge, methods and use of family planning, fertility preferences, breastfeeding, infant and young child feeding practices, vaccinations and childhood illnesses, marriage and sexual activity, woman's work and husband's background characteristics, childhood mortality, HIV/AIDS awareness and other sexually transmitted infections (STIs), Tuberculosis infections and other health-related issues such as exposure to and treatment of malaria during their most recent pregnancy in the five years prior to the survey; and it also included questions on domestic violence. The women were asked questions on blood pressure and anemia (GSS, 2015).

In brief, the 2014 GDHS teams interviewed a total of 11,835 households which included 9,396 women aged 15-49 and 4,388 men aged 15-59 of the selected households for the survey, bringing the total number of respondents interviewed for the 2014 GDHS data set to 13,784. The data for the 2014 GDHS was collected for over a period of three-month, starting from early

September to mid December 2014 (GSS, 2015). Data from the women's questionnaire was extracted and used for this study.

#### **3.5 Measures**

#### **3.5.1 Dependent Variables**

The study used three dependent variables to measure maternal health outcomes among pregnant women in Ghana. These are antenatal attendance (the frequency of ANC visits), facility delivery and postnatal care. The 4,141 women extracted from the GDHS 2014 were women who had given birth between 2009 and 2014 and had answered questions on ANC, delivery and postnatal care during the survey, and therefore fit for the study. The figure was thus, not manipulated by the researcher.

The first dependent variable: frequency of ANC visits is a count variable but was transformed into a dichotomous outcome. Respondents were asked specifically: How many times did you receive antenatal care during this pregnancy? *Coded as '0' for less than four (4) antenatal care visits, and '1' for at least four (4) antenatal care visits.* In spite of the fact that the number of ANC visits is dependent on the medical demands and risk status of the expectant mother in question, WHO recommends at least four visits during the entire period of pregnancy. Mostly, an earlier visit within the first trimester of the pregnancy is recommended for the purposes of screening and identification of infection (see e.g. WHO, 2006; Dixon et al., 2014). These considerations informed the coding of the outcome variable on ANC. Experts have defined ANC attendance using the number of visits with a health care professional (obstetrician, midwife, or doctor/nurse), whether in a hospital or community clinic setting (see e.g. Petrou et al, 2001; Beeckman, Louckx & Putman, 2010). The importance of ANC is measured to a large

extent by the essential service package provided to pregnant women. These include amongst other things the prevention and management of anemia and malaria, micronutrient supplementation, tetanus immunization, and monitoring of certain vital signs to help in the early detection and management of complications arising from the pregnancy (GSS, 2015).

The second dependent variable, facility or place of delivery asked respondents the question: where did you give birth? The responses to the above question from the GDHS 2014 included: home, government hospitals and health facilities, different types of private health facilities, maternity homes and traditional birth attendants. Home delivery in this context means delivery without assistance of any trained health profession, being either a nurse or midwife. These places of delivery were grouped into two categories: home and facility delivery. This was coded as '0' for home delivery and '1' for facility delivery. The significance of skilled delivery at birth to pregnant women and their newborns cannot be overemphasized. Labor and delivery is considered the most critical period of the pregnancy-childbirth continuum. This is due to the fact that most maternal deaths occur as a result of complications during delivery. Obstetric care from a health professional (midwives, trained nurses or doctors) during delivery is considered to be critical in reducing of maternal and neonatal mortality (GSS, 2015). This highlights the importance of skilled attendant during birth to pregnant women and their newborns. The skilled attendant is capable of offering comprehensive care during emergencies to resolve any problem that may arise since they would have the needed logistics to work with. However, existing literature indicates that the vast majority of women still deliver at home in Ghana, sometimes due to some traditional norms and beliefs (see e.g. Gyimah et al. 2006; Addai, 2000).

The third dependent variable, postnatal care, was originally dichotomized. Respondents were asked the following questions: Did anyone check on your health after you gave birth? Or in two months after delivery, did any health care provider or a traditional birth attendant check on your health? The answer to any of these questions *was coded as '0' for no and '1' for yes*. Postnatal care for mothers and their newborns is vital as it ensures essential follow-up care for any complications that arise during delivery. It also provides information on how the mother can take care of herself and her newborn. While this is important in reducing the large number of maternal and neonatal deaths occurring during the first 48 hours after delivery, WHO recommendations are that those who deliver in a facility receive postnatal care in the facility for the first 24 hours, and those who deliver at home receive a home visit within 24 hours of delivery. In addition, three home visits between days seven and fourteen, and at six weeks after delivery are recommended by WHO (WHO, 2013; GSS, 2015).

#### **3.5.2 Independent Variables**

Independent variables selected for analysis are at the individual and community levels based on ecological model. These factors were hypothesized to influence women's decision regarding ANC, delivery and postnatal care.

Individual-level factors describe the socio-economic and demographic characteristics of respondents (education, wealth and employment status) and socio-demographic factors (age, ethnicity, marital status, parity, and place of residence).

*Educational background*: This variable was dummy-coded into four categories namely; no education = 0, primary education = 1, secondary education = 2 and higher education = 3.

*Marital status:* The marital status of women was dummy-coded into three categories: never married = 0, married/living together = 1 and divorce/separated/widowed = 2.

*Wealth status*: Household wealth was dummy-coded into three categories; poor =1; middle =2; and wealthy =3. Household wealth was derived from a combination of assets within the household which includes television, bicycle, or car, as well as dwelling characteristics, such as a source of drinking water, sanitation facilities, and type of flooring material and fuel use for cooking. It was computed using principal component analysis (PCA). PCA is a multivariate statistical method used to reduce the number of variables in a data set into a smaller number of proportions. It has been validated as a technique to describe socio-economic status differentiation within a population (Vyas and Kumaranayake, 2006).

*Employment status:* This variable reflects the employment status of respondents at the time of the survey coded as not working = 0 and working = 1.

*Age of respondent:* Age of respondents was measured in complete years and was introduced into the statistical analysis as a continuous variable.

*Ethnicity:* This variable was dummy-coded into five major ethnic groups including Akans = 0; Ga/Dangme = 1; Ewes = 2; Northern tribes =3 and others = 4.

*Religious denomination:* Respondents religious denomination was dummy-coded as Christians = 0; Islam = 1; Traditionalist = 2 and No religion = 3.

*Residence:* This variable was described in the GDHS to reflect the characteristics of the clusters where respondents lived, and this was classified as urban and rural. This variable was coded as urban = 0 and rural = 1.

*Parity at birth:* This variable shows the birth order of the last birth of the respondent and this was coded as 'less than 3 births' = 0; '3 to 5 births' = 1; and '6 or more births' = 2.

*Access to health care:* Respondents were asked the question: Are you registered with the National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS)? Or does your insurance cover any of the following maternity benefits; ANC, childbirth, care in a health facility, postnatal health care for the mother and her child? This was coded as No = 0 and Yes = 1.

*Distance to health facility:* Respondents were asked the question: In your opinion, was it very easy; easy, fairly easy, difficult, or very difficult to see the health provider? And is the location of the health facility very convenient, convenient, fairly convenient, not convenient, or very inconvenient for you? *For this study, not a big problem (easy) was coded as 0 and a big problem (difficult) was coded as 1.* 

#### 3.5.3 Community-level factors

This study uses Enumeration Areas (EAs) to represent communities or neighbourhoods mainly because the DHS did not collect aggregate level data at the community/neighbourhood level. A total of 427 EAs (216 in urban areas and 211 in rural areas) was selected for the GDHS 2014 survey. Thus, aggregating women's responses to questions at the individual level created community-level factors. These responses reflected questions on women's years of education, wealth status, residence and distance to health facilities. That is, for continuous variables we estimated the mean/average of the responses for each community while proportions/percentages were used for categorical variables such as wealth status, education, marital status and ethnicity. Community-level variables included in the analysis capture the socio-economic characteristics of the neighbourhoods especially as these have implications for accessing antenatal, delivery and post-natal care.

**Mean years of education**: This community-level variable was generated by aggregating the number of years of education for women in the 427 clusters or communities. This aggregate was computed using the average years of education attained by mothers in the various clusters.

**Mean income score**: This value was created from the mean values of the wealth index categories of individual mothers in the various clusters used for the survey.

#### 3.6 Analytical Technique

Descriptive statistics such as means, standard deviation and percentages were used to examine sample characteristics for women attending antenatal and postnatal care, including those who delivered their babies in hospitals. Multilevel bivariate and multivariate logit models (logistic regression) were estimated to examine the relationships between independent variables and outcome variables. That is, the bivariate logit models explain the relationship or the effect of each of the predictor/independent variables on each of the outcome variables (antenatal, delivery, postnatal) of Ghanaian women at a time. Whereas, the multivariate logit models test whether all the independent variables (both continuous and categorical) put together can significantly predict the likelihood of patients attending antenatal, facility delivery and postnatal care (see chapter four for the details). Binary logit models were used mainly because of the dichotomous nature of the outcome variables. However, these models were computed using a multi-level framework. Two main reasons inform the use of multi-level analysis in this dissertation. First, it allows the estimation of the significance and magnitude of clustering within the data without which parameter estimates may be biased due to the possible violation of the independence assumption underlying standard logit models (see Bryk and Raudenbush, 1992). Second, it allows the estimation and explanation of heterogeneity at both the individual and community levels, which is the main focus of this work.

Overall, three separate multilevel logit models were estimated for the three outcome variables. The first model estimates the effects of socio-economic predictors on antenatal, facility-based delivery and post-natal care. The second model adds demographic and socio-cultural predictors and the third model includes variables that capture access to health care. The statistical package Hierarchical Linear Modeling (HLM) version 7.0 was used to estimate all models (Raudenbush et al., 2011).

#### 3.7 Method for document analysis

A qualitative approach was used for the document analysis by adapting Walt & Gilson (1994) policy analysis framework. The framework emphasizes the need for accountability of who (actors), how (process) decisions are made, what (content) decisions are made and under what conditions (context). The actors in this context are the policy makers as individuals and members of professional groups or associations; the process involves how the policy issues are tailored on the policy agenda; the context is dependent on issues at the macro-governmental level and micro-institutional level which could be influenced by political instability; and the content of the policy could dwell on some or all of the above-mentioned constructs (see Walt & Gilson, 1994). That is, the document analysis was done to ascertain a full and deeper understanding of the contents and purposes of the maternal and child health care policies in Ghana. The documents were critically examined and read many times with particular attention to their

contents and objectives, expected outcomes and budget allocated to maternal and child health care (see chapter five for details).

### **3.8 Ethical Considerations**

Ethical consent to undertake DHS in Ghana was approved by the Ethics Committee of ICF Macro in Calverton, USA, and the Ethics Committee of Ghana Health Service, Accra. Permission to use the secondary data set from the GDHS 2014 was sought from the Ethics Committee of ICF Macro in Calverton, USA (custodian of the DHS data sets), and the Ethics Committee of Ministry of Health Ghana. This was done through an online request at <u>www.DHSprogram.com</u> and access was granted to use the data set for the study. In my estimation, no further ethics approval is required from Memorial University of Newfoundland for the use of this secondary data set.

#### **Chapter Four: Results**

#### **4.0 Introduction**

This chapter presents the quantitative analysis for the study. The quantitative analysis includes descriptive and multivariate findings for the study.

#### 4.1 Descriptive Characteristics of Individual Women Extracted from the GDHS Database

As indicated in the previous methods section (Chapter 3), this study extracted data from the 2014 GDHS on 4,141 women who had given birth between 2009 and 2014 and had answered questions on ANC, delivery and postnatal care during the survey. Table 1 provides information on the descriptive statistics of dependent variables (ANC visits, facility delivery and postnatal care) and selected independent variables (age, ethnicity, education, religion, wealth status, health care access, residence, parity, distance to health facility, the average years of education and the mean income status of women). The independent variables in level 2 represent the community-level factors selected for the study, which included residence (urban/rural), mean years of education and mean income score.

Dependent variables	N=4141	
	Percent	
	(%)	
Number of Antenatal visits		
Less than 4 times	10.8	
Four times or more	89.2	
Place of Delivery		
Home delivery	25.8	
Facility delivery	74.2	
Postnatal care within 2 months following		
delivery		
No	26.7	
Yes	73.3	
Independent variables at Level 1		
Socio-economic variables		
Education		
No education	31.9	
Primary education	20.2	
Secondary/higher education	47.9	
Wealth Status		
Poor	51.2	
Middle	19.1	
Rich	29.7	
Employment status		
Not working	20.6	
Working	79.4	

# Table 1: A univariate distribution of dependent and independent variables, GDHS 2014

Demographic and socio-cultural variables	N=4141			
		Mean	Standard	
	Percent	Witcuii	Deviation	
Mean age of respondents		30.6	7.1	
Ethnicity				
Akans	38.8			
Ga/Adangbe	4.6			
Ewes	11.1			
Northern tribes	43.7			
Others	1.8			
Religious denomination				
Christians	72.2			
Islam	21.0			
Traditionalists	3.1			
No religion	3.8			
Marital Status				
Never married	8.5			
Married/Living together	84.7			
Divorced/Separated/Widowed	6.8			
Residence				
Urban	42.1			
Rural	57.9			
Parity at birth				
Less than 3	45.3			
3 to 5 births	42.8			
6 or more births	11.9			

 Table 1: A univariate distribution of dependent and independent variables, GDHS 2014 (Continued)

\_\_\_\_\_

Access to healthcare	Percent (%)		standard Deviation
Respondent has NHIS			
No	29.9		
Yes	70.1		
Distance to health facility			
Not a problem	69.8		
A problem	30.2		
Independent variables at Level 2 (N=427)			
Residence			
Urban <sup>1</sup>	49.4		
Rural <sup>2</sup>	50.6		
Mean years of education		6.9	
Mean income quintile score <sup>3</sup>		316.2	829.5

 Table 1: A univariate distribution of dependent and independent variables, GDHS 2014

 (Continued)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A locality of population size with 5000 or more persons (GSS, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A locality of population size less than 5000 persons (GSS, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The average income score of women at the community-level. This was estimated as 316.2 Ghana cedis

The majority of women had four or more antenatal visits (89.2%), while very few had less than four visits (10.8%). A large proportion of women sampled during the GDHS 2014 delivered their babies in health facilities (74.2%) compared to home deliveries (25.8%). Moreover, a greater number of the women attended postnatal care within the last two months after delivery, representing 73.3% compared to 26.7% of women who did not receive any care after delivery (see Table 1).

Results showed that 31.9% of women had no formal education at the time of the survey; 20.2% had primary education and 47.9% obtained secondary/higher education. This indicates that less than half of the women sampled for the study had secondary/higher education.

Women were distributed amongst three wealth statuses and the majority of them, 51.2% identified as poorest, 19.1% of the women identified within the middle wealth status and 29.7% identified within the wealthy income group. A large proportion of women were employed (79.4%) compared to the unemployed (20.6%).

The average age of women sampled during the survey was 30.6 years. About 38.8% were identified as Akans, followed by Northern tribes (43.7%), Ewes (11.1%), Ga/Adangbe (4.6%) and other tribes (1.8%). being the lowest. The majority of respondents sampled for this study were Christians (72.2%), followed by Islam (21%), then Traditionalist (3.1%) and Pagans (no religion) 3.8%. Also, most of the women were married or living together with their partners (84.7%), and 8.5% had never married, while 6.8% were divorced, separated or widowed. Quite a substantial proportion of the women selected during the survey lived in rural Ghana (57.9%) and 42.1% lived in urban Ghana.

In terms of parity, a higher proportion of the women (45.3%) had less than three children at the time of the survey, whereas 42.8% had three to five children. A few of them constituting 11.9% had six or more children. The majority of women (70.1%) indicated they were covered by NHIS, while 29.9% were not covered. Finally, the majority of the women (69.8%), indicated that distance to health facility in order to access health care was a problem compared to 30.2% who said distance to health care was not a problem.

#### 4.2 Characteristics of Clusters/Communities

The clusters are the units of analysis at the community-level. The total number of clusters identified for this study was 427 clusters within the rural and urban centers of Ghana. A significant proportion of women were selected from each of these clusters across the ten (10) administrative regions of Ghana to ensure a fair representation of women in the study. The majority of clusters were selected from the rural areas (50.6%) and 49.4% from the urban centers as indicated in Table 1. Aggregating women's response to questions at the individual level created the community-level factors. Thus, for continuous variables, we estimated the mean of the responses for each community while proportions/percentages were used for categorical variables. From Table 1, the mean age of education among respondents of the study was 6.9 and the mean income status score was 316.2. This indicates that majority of women selected from the various clusters were educated and fell within the poor and middle wealth status.

#### **4.3 Bivariate Analysis**

The bivariate analysis (Table 2) explains the relationship or the effect of each of the predictor/independent variables on each of the outcome variables (antenatal, delivery, postnatal) care of Ghanaian women. It revealed disparities in the three maternal health care services

(antenatal, delivery and postnatal care) explored in the study by selected socio-economic, demographic and socio-cultural, and community-level variables. The results indicated that the educational level of women was significantly associated with antenatal care and place of delivery. Compared with those with no education, women with secondary/higher education were 76% more likely to make the recommended number of ANC visits (at least four visits), and 29% were more likely to visit various health facilities for delivery services. The likelihood of women seeking antenatal, delivery and postnatal care increased with their educational attainment as shown in Table 2.

In general, respondent's wealth index was statistically associated with all the three outcome variables. Table 2 showed that for each of the maternal health indicators, there were significant differences in the services obtained by wealth index. Women with high socioeconomic status were 5.4 times more likely to make the recommended ANC visits according to WHO, and 11.8 times more likely to deliver in health facilities compared to the poor. However, women within the middle wealth status were 2.1 times more likely to seek facility-based delivery and less likely to utilize postnatal care service compared to the poor.

Variables	Antenatal	Delivery	Postnatal
	OR	OR	OR
Socio-economic variables			
Education			
No education	1.00	1.00	1.00
Primary education	1.05 (.149)	1.53(.120) ***	1.08 (.143)
Secondary/Higher education	1.76(.147) ***	1.29(.107) ***	1.12 (.119)
Wealth status			
Poor	1.00	1.00	1.00
Middle	1.27 (.145)	2.17(.122) ***	.723(.126) ***
Rich	5.47(.191) ***	11.8(.185) ***	.987 (.145)
Employment status			
Not working	1.00	1.00	1.00
Working	1.75(.127) ***	.908 (.112)	1.38(.099) ***
Demographic and socio-cultural variables			
Age of respondents	1.02(.001) **	.982(.001) ***	1.01 (.001)
Ethnicity			
Akans	1.00	1.00	1.00
Ga/Adangbe	.475(.214) ***	1.08 (.210)	.864 (.229)
Ewes	.562(.199) ***	.765 (.191)	1.04 (.165)
Northern tribes	.733(.150) **	.579(.136) ***	1.97(.137) ***
Others	.485 (.397)	.299(.314) ***	1.11 (.305)
Religious denomination			
Christians	1.00	1.00	1.00
Islam	1.32 (.162)	.821 (.150)	1.39(.139) **
Traditionalists	.608 (.263)	.222(.309) ***	.897 (.288)
No religion	.492(.219) ***	.384(.202) ***	.994 (.219)
Marital Status			
Never married	1.00	1.00	1.00
Married/Living together	1.73(.167) ***	.740 (.173)	1.15 (.143)
Divorced/Separated/Widowed	1.16 (.232)	.572 (.2310**	1.11 (.210)
Residence			
Urban	1.00	1.00	1.00
Rural	.423(.154) ***	.158(.149) ***	.857 (.179)
Parity at birth			
Less than 3	1.00	1.00	1.00
3 to 5 births	.975 (.118)	.603(.085) ***	1.17 (.094)
6 or more births	.638(.154) ***	.424(.125) ***	.971 (.137)

## Table 2: Bivariate analyses of Antenatal, Delivery and Postnatal care for Ghanaian women, 2014

Note; \*P<0.1; \*\*p<0.05; \*\*\*p<0.01; robust standard errors in brackets; OR=Odd Ratios

Table 2 Cont'd: Bivariate analyses of Antenatal, Delivery and Postnatal care for Ghanaian women,2014

Variables	Antenatal	Delivery	Postnatal
	OR	OR	OR
Access to healthcare			
Respondent has NHIS			
No	1.00	1.00	1.00
Yes	1.77(.117) ***	1.75(.095) ***	1.26(.097) **
Distance to health facility			
Not a problem	1.00	1.00	1.00
A problem	.803 (.127)	.695(.087) ***	.814 (.143)
Independent variables at Level 2			
Residence			
Urban	1.00	1.00	1.00
Rural	.991(.001) ***	.982(.002) ***	.998 (.002)
Years of education	1.21(.027) ***	1.44(.025) ***	.947(.029) *
Income score	1.01(.001) ***	1.01(.001) ***	.998(.001) **

Note; \*P<0.1; \*\*p<0.05; \*\*\*p<0.01; robust standard errors in brackets; OR=Odd Ratios

Variations were also found among women who were working with regard to the use of the three maternal health indicators. As indicated in Table 2, women who were employed 1.7 times more likely to make the recommended number of ANC visits and 1.3 times more likely to attend postnatal care compared to women not working.

In addition, the bivariate analysis showed some variations in the three outcome variables amongst a number of demographic and socio-cultural variables (e.g. ethnicity, religious denominators, marital status, residence, and parity). Ethnicity was statistically associated with some of the outcome measures under consideration. Compared to the Akans, the Ga/Adangbe and Ewes were less likely to make the required number of ANC visits recommended by the WHO. While, women from the Northern tribes were 1.9 times more likely to utilize postnatal services, but 0.7 and 0.5 times less likely to use ANC and access facility delivery respectively compared to the Akans. Aa well, compared to Christians, Muslim women were 1.3 times more likely to attend postnatal care services and Traditionalist were 0.2 times less likely to go for facility delivery. Likewise, women who did not identify with a religion were less likely to make the recommended number of ANC visits and utilize postnatal care services compared to Christians. Also, married women were more likely to attend ANC services compared with those who never married. Divorced, separated or widowed women were less likely to use facility delivery services compared with those who were never previously married.

There were also differences seen in rural versus urban dwelling women. Rural dwellers were less likely to make the WHO recommended ANC visits and go for facility delivery compared to their counterparts in the urban centers. Parity was significantly associated with women's use of ANC and facility delivery services. Women with four or more births were less likely to access health facilities for both ANC and delivery services compared to women with less than three births. From Table 2, women who had six or more births were 0.6 times less likely to make the recommended ANC visits and 0.4 times less likely to deliver in health facilities compared to women with less than three births.

With regard to access to health care, the bivariate results indicated that NHIS was highly associated with the use of all three-outcome measures. These are cards issued by the NHIA to assist pregnant women to access free maternal care. This means that pregnant women with NHIS cards were more likely to access all three maternal health services compared to those without NHIS cards. Nonetheless, women without NHIS cards who could afford to pay for maternal health

59

services in public and/or private health facilities also benefited from the above-mentioned services. Similarly, results showed that distance to health facilities was negatively associated with women's use of all three dependent (ANC, facility-based delivery and postnatal care services) variables. Women who indicated distance was a problem were 0.6 times less likely to seek facility delivery compared to those who said distance was not a problem.

With respect to the community-level characteristics (independent variables at level 2), women residing in rural communities were 0.9 and 0.9 times less likely to utilize ANC and facility delivery services, respectively. Also, communities in which women with higher average years of education reside were significantly more likely to access ANC and deliver in health facilities.

#### 4.4 Multivariate Analysis

Multivariate results are presented in Table 3; these show the net effects of both individual and community-level factors on all the three outcome variables. In other words, table 3 tests whether all of the independent variables (both continuous and categorical) put together can significantly predict the likelihood of patients attending antenatal, delivery and postnatal care.

The multivariate results were largely consistent with some bivariate findings. However, the results indicated that women's educational background was statistically associated with ANC visits, facility delivery and postnatal care services in Ghana. For instance, women with secondary/higher education were 1.8 and 1.4 times more likely to access facility delivery and postnatal care services respectively, compared to women who had no education after adjusting for other theoretical relevant variables.

Also, the wealth status of women largely affected their decisions regarding the use of the three maternal health outcomes. For example, after controlling for the effects of education and

occupation among women, it was still observed that the wealthy were 3 times more likely to make the ANC recommended visits and 3.9 times more likely to seek facility delivery compared to the poor (see Table 3). Further analysis at the multivariate level showed that ethnicity was statistically associated with women's use of ANC, facility delivery and postnatal care services. It was interesting, however, to find that women from the Northern tribes were significantly more likely to seek facility delivery and postnatal care services compared to Akan women. For example, women from the Northern tribes were 1.3 times more likely to seek facility delivery, and 1.9 times more likely to go for postnatal care compared to the Akans (see Table 3). Besides, after controlling for other relevant variables, Muslims were more likely to make the recommended ANC visits compared to Christians. On the other hand, Traditionalist and women with no religious affiliation were less likely to seek facility delivery services compared to Christians. Consistent with the bivariate results, the multivariate findings showed that rural dwellers were less likely to use facility delivery and postnatal care compared to urban dwellers. Similarly, regarding parity at birth, the

multivariate findings remained unchanged compared with the bivariate results having adjusted for other relevant variables.

The influence of the predictor variable (NHIS) remained statistically robust and did not change from what was observed at the bivariate level with regard to the outcome measures after controlling for related theoretical variables at the individual level. Furthermore, as showed in the bivariate analysis, results in Table 3 indicated no statistically significant differences for women's access to health care services with respect to distance to health facility. The intra-class correlations for ANC, facility delivery and postnatal care were estimated as 17.20%, 19.5% and 40.3%, respectively which indicate the variations in women's access to health care at the community-level. While they are moderate, they are statistically significant and suggest that we need to consider community-level variables to fully understand the behaviour of the Ghanaian women when it comes to maternal health care utilization. Community-level results suggest that communities which have more women with higher education were significantly more likely to access antenatal care and facility delivery.

Variables	Antenatal	Delivery	Postnatal
	OR	OR	OR
Socio-economic variables			
Education			
No education	1.00	1.00	1.00
Primary education	1.06 (.149)	1.23 (.124)	1.28 (.154)
Secondary/Higher education	1.26 (.165)	1.86 (.119) ***	1.44 (.141) ***
Wealth status			
Poor	1.00	1.00	1.00
Middle	1.04 (.164)	1.30 (.136)	.788 (.133)
Rich	3.04 (.278) ***	3.99 (.245) ***	1.13 (.189)
Employment status			
Not working	1.00	1.00	1.00
Working	1.71 (.143) ***	1.02 (.121)	1.33 (.104) ***
Demographic and socio-cultural variables			
Age of respondents	1.04 (.001) ***	1.02 (.001)	1.01 (.001)
Ethnicity			
Akans	1.00	1.00	1.00
Ga/Adangbe	.394 (.234) ***	.984 (.199)	.856 (.229)
Ewes	.574 (.193) ***	.904 (.196)	1.09 (.167)
Northern tribes	1.17 (.186)	1.38 (.157) **	1.93 (.165) **
Others	.511 (.403)	.471 (.328) **	1.18 (.319)
Religious denomination			
Christians	1.00	1.00	1.00
Islam	1.54 (.187) **	1.06 (.170)	1.12 (.153)
Traditionalists	.781 (.256)	.363 (.325) ***	.826 (.291)
No religion	.653 (.212)	.554 (.210) ***	1.01 (.233)
Marital Status			
Never married	1.00	1.00	1.00
Married/Living together	1.41 (.196)	.899 (.187)	.929 (.160)
Divorced/Separated/Widowed	1.02 (.253)	.758 (.250)	1.03 (.219)
Residence			
Urban	1.00	1.00	1.00
Rural	1.21 (.195)	.506 (.172) ***	.571 (.250) **
Parity at birth			
Less than 3	1.00	1.00	1.00
3 to 5 births	.711 (.153) **	.672 (.111) ***	1.16 (.124)
6 or more births	.427 (.242) ***	.583 (.181) ***	.964 (.193)

# Table 3: Multivariate analyses of Antenatal, delivery and postnatal care for Ghanaian women, 2014

Note; \*P<0.1; \*\*p<0.05; \*\*\*p<0.01; robust standard errors in brackets; OR=Odd Ratios

Antenatal	Delivery	Postnatal
OR	OR	OR
1.00	1.00	1.00
1.68 (.124) ***	1.161 (.098) ***	1.21 (.101) **
1.00	1.00	1.00
.973 (.125)	.842 (.091) *	.806 (.143)
1.14 (.047) ***	1.21 (.043) ***	1.02 (.054)
1.01 (.002)	.998 (.002)	.998 (.002) ***
.684***	.795	2.22
17.20%	19.5%	40.3%
	OR 1.00 1.68 (.124) *** 1.00 .973 (.125) 1.14 (.047) *** 1.01 (.002) .684***	OR         OR           1.00         1.00           1.68 (.124) ***         1.161 (.098) ***           1.00         1.00           .973 (.125)         .842 (.091) *           1.14 (.047) ***         1.21 (.043) ***           1.01 (.002)         .998 (.002)           .684***         .795

Table 3: cont'd:	Multivariate analyses of Antenatal, delivery and postnatal care for Ghanaian
women, 2014	

Note; \*P<0.1; \*\*p<0.05; \*\*\*p<0.01; robust standard errors in brackets; OR=Odd Ratios

In summary, the quantitative results revealed that both individual and community-level factors are significant predictors of maternal health services in Ghana. At the individual level, wealthier women and those with higher education were significantly more likely to utilize ANC and delivery services, but less likely to use postnatal care services. Communities with women of higher average years of education were significantly more likely to access antenatal care and experience facility-based delivery. The results of this study are discussed in detail in chapter six.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Intra-class correlation also known as intra-class correlation coefficient is a form of descriptive statistics used in measuring quantitative units grouped together (Koch, 1982). The ICC describes how strong the various units in the same groups are in terms of resembles (i.e. the clustering at the community level).

#### **Chapter 5: Policy Documents Analyses**

#### **5.0 Introduction**

The chapter examines and analyzes policy documents on maternal and child health care in Ghana. The first section provides a review of policy documents analyses. The second part includes a description of selected policy documents of the MOH Ghana on maternal and child health care followed by the analysis of the selected documents.

#### 5.1 Review and description of policy documents

Policy documents of the MOH Ghana on maternal and child health care were reviewed to understand the processes, content, and outcomes of the policies in the ten regions of Ghana. Policy analysis is considered as a fundamental method in understanding and making sense of social and organization practices, especially in the Western countries (Walt & Gilson, 1994). That is, documents can inform researchers in more depth about the context of social settings and policy decisions. Having said that, in considering this approach attention needs to be given to the knowledge that documents 'contain' about the setting, the cultural values attached to them, and their distinctive types and forms (see e.g. Coffey, 2014; Prior, 2008). For instance, the study of policy documents has been considered as a method where the analytical process permits researchers to reconstruct, sustain, contest and change our sense of social reality (see e.g. Patton, 2002). This means researchers have the ability to reduce the data in scope while retaining essential elements to derive core consistencies and meanings from it.

In addition, other scholars have emphasized the need for policy analysis that allows and encourages public health scholars and health departments to reflect on policy outputs in order to assess their successes and failures (Breton et al., 2008; Walt & Gilson, 1994). According to Prior (2003), documents are sources for research in their own right, and in using this approach experts should keep in mind the dynamics involved in the relationships between production, consumption, and content in order to understand the process of exchange to situate the product within the context of the study (see Prior, 2003). Document analysis was used in this study to support the findings from the data set (see chapter four), and to establish a full and deeper understanding of policy implementation challenges facing Ghana's health sector in its quest to provide maternal and child healthcare services. The documents studied included the five-year program of work (5YPOW) and the free maternal health care policy as well as reports on MDGs 4 and 5. The selections were made based on the objectives of the documents, target or expected outcomes and funds allocated to implement the policies outlined in the documents. The first four documents were the 5YPOW, followed by three MDG reports and a report on the free maternal health care initiative in Ghana. These are listed below:

- 1. The Ghana Health Sector Annual Program of Work 2004
- 2. The Ghana Health Sector Program of Work 2011
- 3. The Ghana Health Sector Program of Work 2013

- 4. An evaluation of the free maternal health care initiative in Ghana Report 2013
- 5. The Ghana Health Services 2014 Annual Report
- The MDG acceleration framework and country action plan (Maternal Health-MDG Report), 2011
- 7. The Ghana MDG Report 2013
- 8. The Ghana MDG Report 2015

## 5.2 Description of the Five-year Health Sector Program of Work (5YPOW)

Ghana's first Five Year Health Sector Program of Work (5YPOW) of the Ministry of Health (MOH) was implemented during the period of 1997 to 2001. In 1996, Ghana established a long-term vision for growth and development by 2020. This agenda was known as 'Vision 2020'. The 'Vision 2020' document outlines five priority areas for action in the medium to longterm. They include: maximizing the healthy and productive life of Ghanaians, fair distribution of benefits of development, attainment of a national economic growth rate of 8 percent, reduction of population growth rate from 3 percent to 2.75 percent and the promotion of science and improved technology as tools for growth and development (MOH, 2001). The overall aim of the 'Vision 2020' document in relation to the national health policy was to improve the health status of all Ghanaians. The 'Vision 2020' therefore, set the following specific health objectives:

- Achieve significant reduction in the rates of infant, child and maternal mortality rates
- · Control risk factors that expose individuals to major communicable diseases effectively

- Increased access to health services, especially in rural areas
- Establish an effective health system reoriented towards delivery of public health services
- Strengthen effective and efficient management of the health system (MOH, 2001).

In order to respond to the health needs of its citizenry and to help the government to achieve its agenda, the MOH developed and published a Medium-Term Health Strategy (MTHS) document and a five-year program of work to guide health development in Ghana over a five-year period starting from 1997 - 2001. The objectives for the Program of Work (POW) were to achieve:

- Increased geographical and financial access to basic services
- Better quality of care in all health facilities and during outreaches
- Improved efficiency in the health sector
- Closer collaboration and partnership between the health sector and communities,

other sectors and private providers both allopathic and traditional

• Increased overall resources in the health sector and to ensure equitable and efficient distribution.

The MOH as the sector in charge of health policy and healthcare delivery for the entire nation came out with a mission statement that summarizes the overall direction of the sector:

"As one of the critical sectors in the growth and development of the Ghanaian economy, the mission of the health ministries, departments and agencies is to improve the health status of all people living in Ghana through the development and promotion of proactive policies for good health and longevity; the provision of universal access to basic health service and provision of quality health services which are affordable and accessible. These services will be delivered in a humane, efficient, and effective manner by well trained, friendly, highly motivated and client oriented personnel." (MOH, 2001, p 2).

The idea was that specific targets could be achieved over the five-year period (1997 – 2001) through a sector-wide monitoring of indicators to measure progress in the nation's health. Such sector-wide indicators included the following:

- Health Status: IMR/1000 Live Births; UMR/1000; MMR/100,000; Life Expectancy/Year
- 2) Fertility: Annual Growth Rate and Total Fertility Rate (TFR)
- 3) Nutrition: Percentage of Children with Severe Malnutrition.

However, these indicators could change depending upon emerging diseases that affected Ghana. The 5YPOW has been used by the MOH Ghana as a guide to monitor the health needs of Ghanaians since its inception from 1997-2001, including the current edition 2012-2016. These documents have been used extensively, both by the MOH, scholars and development partners in assessing the health situation in Ghana.

#### 5.3 Description of the Free Maternal Health Care in Ghana

In September 2003, the Government of Ghana introduced the policy of exempting all expectant mothers from delivery fees in health facilities. This was initially done in "the four most

deprived regions of the country, which in April 2005 was extended (without formal evaluation) to the remaining six regions" (Witter et al., 2007, p.62). The four most deprived regions are the Northern, Upper East, Upper West, and Central regions (Ensor et al., 2001). The objective of the policy of free delivery care was to reduce financial barriers that prevented poor women from accessing maternal health services in Ghana. The policy aimed at increasing the proportion of facility-based delivery to reduce maternal and perinatal deaths in Ghana. One of the major obstacles to accessing maternal health care according to previous studies is money; therefore, user fee exemption has the ability to increase health service utilization in all areas of health, especially maternal healthcare services. This brought about an increase in facility-based delivery in Ghana, but the initiative was not adequately funded by central government (MOH) through the district health administration to reimburse both public, and private health facilities per the number and type of deliveries they attended monthly (MOH, 2004; Witter et al., 2007). Therefore, some health facilities started charging user fees for maternal healthcare utilization. This resulted in a reduction in the utilization of maternal health care in Ghana since expectant mothers could not afford to use both private and public health facilities for skilled attendant at birth (Witter et al., 2009; HERA-BHPG, 2013).

The minister of health in April 2008, declared the high maternal mortality in Ghana as a national emergency (MOH, 2008). In response to the "national emergency", the president of Ghana travelled to the UK to attend "Business Call to Action" conference, in May 2008, where he announced that maternal deliveries would be free of charge in Ghana. His call was supported by a grant of 42.5 million British pounds by the UK government. The MOH upon receiving the good news developed policy guidelines to start the free maternal healthcare policy in June 2008 and implementation started in July 2008. Registration of pregnant women started nationwide to

keep track of the implementation of the policy. The registration process for pregnant women was factored into the National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS) without the payment of any premium for access to medical care under the scheme. This included a comprehensive maternal healthcare package for (ANC, delivery and post-natal care as well as neonatal care for infants for a period of three months). This initiative brought a big relief to all women of reproductive age who were pregnant at that time; this resulted in an increase in both ANC and facility-based delivery as indicated in the GDHS 2008 report (GSS et al., 2009). The fee exemption policy was later on replaced by the NHIS that covers the expenditure for a wide range of health services, including maternal health care. Currently, pregnant women and their newborns in Ghana continue to enjoy the free maternal care including delivery. However, disparities exist in the service delivery due to the non-availability of care in some health facilities, particularly in the rural part of Ghana. Besides, indirect costs continue to be a challenge in the smooth implementation of the policy, especially for women living a long distance from health facilities. The families of pregnant women and their relatives face the problem of high cost of transportation to health facilities during emergencies.

#### **5.4 Document Analysis**

The document analysis was done to ascertain a full and deeper understanding of the context, contents and purposes of the maternal and child health care policies in Ghana. Refer to **page 66-67** for the full list of documents used for the analysis. **Table 4** on **pages 77-80** provides the details on the document analysis.

The documents were critically examined with particular attention paid to their content and objectives, expected outcomes and budget allocated to maternal and child health care. This was

conducted in order to compare the findings with that of 2014 GDHS data to evaluate the progress made on maternal and child health. The focus of the analysis was on how Ghanaian Government policies on health addressed goal 4 & 5 of the MDGs agreed upon by the United Nations. The following questions were used as guiding questions for the analysis: What issues did the policy propose to address and how much money was allocated for the implementation of the policy from the MOH budget? What infrastructural development took place within the health sector during the past ten years (2004-2014) towards the achievement of the policy objectives?

The following sub-themes were identified from the document analyses: meeting objectives of MDGs 4&5, maternal healthcare under the National Health Insurance, challenges facing MDG 4&5 indicator targets, and evaluation of the free maternal healthcare initiative. These themes will be explored further in the following sections.

#### 5.4.1 Meeting Objectives of MDGs 4&5

This analysis sheds light on the steps taken by the government of Ghana to reduce inequalities in maternal and child healthcare in Ghana. Some of the challenges faced by the government and MOH with respect to inadequate funding to permit the attainment of MDG 4&5 targets were highlighted in the Ghana Health Sector Program of Work 2013, and re-echoed in the Ghana MDG Reports 2013. Most strategies identified to improve maternal and child healthcare focused on increasing geographical and financial access to health care to increase the proportion of women who deliver in health facilities to reduce maternal and infant mortality. Geographically, the health sector expanded the Community-based Health Planning and Service (CHPS) and health training institutions to scale-up the training of midwives to increase skilled delivery at birth in the CHPS zones and compounds: "Rolling out CHPS, and strengthening referral and community support systems to address obstetric emergencies. The local government system in various districts to build additional 450 CHPS zones to increase access and use of modern ANC, postnatal care and adolescent health. The retraining of existing staff and the training of new staff through the establishment of midwifery schools as well as the establishment of at least one fully operational and furnished hospital in every district to deal with complications from maternal health delivery" (MOH, 2013).

#### 5.4.2 Maternal Healthcare under the National Health Insurance Scheme

The introduction of the free maternal healthcare through the NHIS gave women access to healthcare services in their local communities and district health facilities which they would not have been able to access otherwise (**See table 4 for details**). For example, it was acknowledged in the Ghana Health sector annual program of work 2004, the role of the NHIS in increasing the uptake of maternal health services in Ghana: "*delivery of comprehensive health care services through the implementation of the national health insurance scheme*" (MOH, 2004).

# 5.4.3 Challenges facing MDG 4&5 indicator targets

There was also a focus on the progress of the MDGs, especially goals 4 and 5 in Ghana and the challenges facing indicator targets. As indicated in table 4, many of the documents highlighted the achievements of Ghana as a nation in areas of increased skilled delivery at birth and decrease in both infants and maternal deaths. Nevertheless, the documents did not hesitate to indicate that there is room for improvement since Ghana could not attain its MDG goal 5. Some of the challenges listed included the lack of adequate data on child mortality, poverty as a cause of maternal mortality, low coverage of comprehensive health care services, uneven distribution of skilled birth attendants, and many others: "Inadequate human resources, poor quality of health care delivery in relation to ANC and postnatal care, lack of basic emergency obstetric care (BEOC) in health facilities, lack of blood transfusion service in some district health facilities and poor accessibility often emerge as a bottleneck for pregnant women, particularly in rural areas of Ghana" (Ghana MDG Report, 2011).

Other challenges mentioned in one of the MDG reports as stated in table 4 included:

"Under reporting of child deaths and inadequate national data to provide complete and reliable information on child health, unevenly distribution of skilled attendants at birth and the lack of attention to the Three Delays by health personnel in Ghana" (Ghana MDG Report, 2013).

# 5.4.4 Evaluation of the Free Maternal Healthcare Initiative

The report on the evaluation of the free maternal healthcare initiative in 2013 concentrated on the impacts of the MOH free maternal health care policy on the utilization and quality of skilled delivery services in Ghana. The report outlined the challenges in the implementation of the guidelines on the free maternal health care at all levels of service delivery, and within the NHIS and the MOH.

The report acknowledged a "steady increase in the number of facility-based deliveries from about 300,000 in 2007 to about 500,000 in 2011 and institutional maternal mortality ratio reported by the Ghana Health Service declined from 230 per 100,000 in 2007 to 170 in 2011" (HERA-HPG, 2013). The report admitted that hospitals/health facilities faced challenges in providing an acceptable level of privacy and confidentiality for women during labour. Most health care facilities could not provide the services of assisted delivery such as forceps delivery, and Caesarean section to women due to non-availability of care. More over, shortages and/or user fees for ambulance services affected the referral system in healthcare facilities, therefore, women who needed emergency referral have to use public transportation or pay for the cost of the ambulance to the next available health facility.

Similarly, staff supervision and monitoring of the care of pregnant women was not correctly documented and done frequently (HERA-HPG, 2013). This means that the progress of expectant mothers was not well monitored during the process of labour: this could be dangerous for mothers, should their conditions change in the third stage of labour. If a pregnant woman experiences a post-partum haemorrhage as a consequence of retained placenta, in the absence of a doctor or senior midwife to supervise the removal of the placenta to stop the bleeding, the woman can bleed to death (HERA-HPG, 2013; Witter et al., 2007).

Other barriers to facility-based deliveries included distance and cost of transport, attitudes and perceived hostility of maternity staff, cultural practices and beliefs constraints, and the cost of supplies requested by midwives as well as the non-availability of services in rural health facilities and some district hospitals. The report came out with several factors that can serve as a guide to improve future policies on maternal health. These included streamlining the NHIS registration process, expanding the list of insured services, addressing human resource bottlenecks for maternity care, and decentralising maternity services. This would bring services closer to communities to build the capacity of health centres and CHPS compounds for normal delivery services as well as increasing client-friendliness of maternity services and improving client communication by maternity staff (HERA-HPG, 2013). In summary, this document analysis indicated that the free maternal health care policy brought about a steady increase in the number of facility-based deliveries and a reduction in maternal mortality ratio in Ghana. Notwithstanding, hospitals/health facilities faced challenges in providing an acceptable level of privacy and confidentiality for women during labour. Shortages and/or user fees for ambulance services also affected referral systems in healthcare facilities. Distance and cost of transport, attitudes and perceived hostility of maternity staff, cultural practices and beliefs constraints were mentioned as barriers to maternal health care utilization in Ghana. Other barriers included the lack of availability of services in rural health facilities and some district hospitals, and the cost of supplies requested by midwives (midwives in Ghana are persons who have successfully completed midwifery education program and are licenced to deliver pregnant women in health facilities).

See **Table 4** below for details on the document analysis.

#	Name of Document/Year	Summary of document (Purpose, Key point)	Theme (main or sub themes)	Target/Expected outcome	Funds Allocated
1	Ghana Health Sector Annual POW MOH, 2004.	<ul> <li>Harness existing opportunities to improve health care in Ghana:</li> <li>Delivery of comprehensive health care services</li> <li>Scaling up implementation of national ambulance services</li> <li>Implementation of national health insurance</li> </ul>	Health sector efficiency Increase geographical and financial access to health care Maternal and reproductive health services Child and adolescent health services	Increase supervise delivery by 80% and 50% of public health facilities to provide EOC. Reduce MMR in health institutions to 180/100 000. 80% of districts to implement complete Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI). Improve child nutrition rate of children attending CWC.	Maternal delivery exemption 3M USD. Expanding of Health Training Institutions 2.4M USD. Health Insurance 1M USD.
2	Ghana Health Sector POW MOH, 2011.	<ul> <li>Accelerating activities towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals:</li> <li>Improve access to quality maternal, neonatal, child and adolescent services</li> <li>Improve coverage of Primary Health Care (PHC)</li> </ul>	Procurement of Public Health essential commodities such as vaccines and contraceptives. Increase access to modern FP service and training of midwives. Increase coverage of skilled attendant at delivery. Construction of CHPS compounds and zones and implementation of recommendations from the MAF & EmONC assessment studies.	800 new functional zones operationalized, five midwifery training schools set up and increase skilled delivery rate by 50%. Essential nutrition actions scaled up to cover three regions. Increase coverage of fully immunization of children by age one to 80%.	RCH activities 60,299 Ghana cedis
3	Ghana Health Sector POW MOH, 2013.	<ul> <li>Bridging equity gaps in health care through the CHPS concept: <ul> <li>Retraining existing staff</li> <li>Engage local gov't to build additional 450 CHPS zones</li> <li>Increase access and use of modern contraceptives, ANC, post natal care and adolescent health</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Working together to achieve MDG 4 & 5 by 2015. Access to comprehensive/ basic EmONC and reduce malnutrition. Increase Expanded Program of Immunization (EPI) coverage.	Increase in skilled birth attendant by 60% and 40% in FP usage with the implementation of MAF. ANC and post natal care clinical audit report to be made available. 80% increase in 4 visits of ANC and 60% for Post natal care. 100% of all district and private hospitals to provide EmNOC.	Reproductive and Child Health 298 247.37 Ghana cedis

 Table 4: Documents analysis display table on maternal and child health care in Ghana (2004-2014)

#	Name of Document/Year	Summary of document (Purpose, Key point)	Theme (main or sub themes)	Target/Expected outcome	Funds Allocated
4	Evaluation of the free maternal health care initiative in Ghana Report 2013, HERA, Belgium and Health Partners, Ghana	The evaluation looks at the impact of the MOH free maternal health care policy on utilisation of skilled delivery services in Ghana; and the effects of the free maternal health care policy on quality of maternal health services. The report also assessed the process and challenges in the implementation of the guidelines on free maternal health care policy at all levels of service delivery, and the challenges in the implementation of the guidelines on the free maternal health care policy within the NHIS and the MOH. Finally, the evaluation highlights lessons that will feed into the revision of the policy and for future initiatives.	Streamlining the NHIS registration process and expand the list of insured services, addressing human resource bottlenecks for maternity care, decentralise maternity services in order to bring them closer to communities by building the capacity of health centres and CHPS compounds for normal delivery services, minimise payment delays of NHI claims, increase client-friendliness of maternity services and improvement in client communication by maternity staff.		
5	Ghana Health Services 2014 Annual Report, 2015, Accra	This report highlights the following implementation activities, and health service initiatives in the Health Sector Medium Term Development Plan (HSMTDP 2014-2017). The report also highlights on the challenges faced by the GHS at the end of 2013 and the beginning of 2014. It again, detailed a summary of key priorities actions for GHS for 2014 which included scaling-up of CHPS under the 'close-to-client' service delivery policy.	Family planning, Safe motherhood and child health, accelerated reduction of maternal mortality, newborn care, contribution of CHPS to service delivery, trend of ANC4+ visits from 2010-2014, trend of ANC 4+ visits by regions 2012- 2014, trend of skilled delivery 2010 – 2014, regional trend in postnatal care coverage 2012 – 2014 and trend in institutional Maternal Mortality Ratio 2010 -2014.		
6	MDG acceleration framework (MAF) and country action plan	The report looks at the overall progress of the MDGs in Ghana with specific emphasis on maternal health since its	Maternal Health/ MDG 5 ANC and post natal care coverage, Skilled delivery, Family planning,	Establishment of at least one fully operational and furnished hospital in every district to deal with	Not specified

#	Name of Document/Year	Summary of document (Purpose, Key point)	Theme (main or sub themes)	Target/Expected outcome	Funds Allocated
	(Maternal Health); 2011; MOH/UN, Accra (MDG Report).	progress was off-track according to the 2010 MDG Report. Some challenges mentioned in the document includes; resource allocation not aligned to match policy declaration, lack of systematic tracking of set targets such as focused ANC coverage, lack of basic emergency obstetric care (BEOC) in health facilities, lack of blood transfusion service in some district health facilities and poor accessibility often emerge as a bottleneck for pregnant women, particularly in rural areas. It also stated strategic interventions of high impact for achieving the MDGs, especially MDG5.	Expansion of CHPS compounds and zones	complications from maternal health delivery. Increase access to health services under the NHIS. Improve supply and distribution of Family planning commodities Improving capacity in provision of FP services. Rolling out CHPS, and strengthening referral and community support systems to address obstetric emergencies.	
7	The Ghana MDG Report 2013, GSS/UNDP; Accra	A report prepared by the GSS Ghana showing a critical analysis of the progress and retrogression of the MDGs out of the 2010 PHC data of Ghana. The synopsis of the report provides a quick glace to the challenges facing Ghana in its quest to achieve the MDGs with reference to the progress of MDGs, especially goal 4 and 5 in Ghana	Lack of adequate data on child mortality, low coverage of comprehensive health services, inadequate human resources, poor quality of health care delivery, ANC and postnatal care. Maternal mortality rates by locality and region, uneven distribution of skilled attendants at birth, lack of attention to the three Ds by health personnel in Ghana, low coverage of NHIS, non-availability of care and distance to health facility.	Establishment of midwifery schools and redistribution of midwives, Scaling-up CHPS. MAF implementation by ensuring the three key interventions namely; FP, skilled delivery services, and emergency obstetrics and neonatal care (EmONC) and ensuring effective referral systems for emergency care	
8.	Ghana MDG Report 2015; NDPC/UN/UNDP Accra	This report details with Ghana's progress towards attainment of the MDGs as of 2014. It again shows the methods adopted in the preparation of the report which includes a desk review of relevant policy documents and of the five previous Ghana	Progress of MDG 4 and 5. Strengthening the MDG Accelerated Framework (MAF) initiative. Safe motherhood initiative and Comprehensive ANC linked with	Target not achieved, but significant improvement made as of 2014.	

#	Name of Document/Year	Summary of document (Purpose, Key point)	Theme (main or sub themes)	Target/Expected outcome	Funds Allocated
			Child Welfare Clinic (CWC) implementation of (EmONC) in all 10 regions in Ghana. Challenges of MDG 4 and 5: Inadequate national data to provide complete and reliable information on child health. Lack of well- motivated personnel with adequate skills in the health system to improve the poor quality of care. Lack of adequate resources to support activities under EPI. Socio- economic and socio-cultural factors such as low female literacy rates and low levels of women's empowerment. Inadequate data on maternal healthcare to facilitate regular and reliable assessment of maternal mortality issues. Limited deployment of skilled health workers, supply of equipment, logistics, staff accommodation, transportation and ambulance services; Slow scaling up of maternal health services, particularly at district level, as well as investments in CHPS and related PHC infrastructure and systems within the context of the Ouagadougou Declaration; Ineffective referral system nationwide, compounded by transport constraints (especially for		
			women in labour).		

# Chapter 6: Discussion of Results, Conclusions, and Recommendations

# **6.1 Introduction**

Pregnancy-related complications have been established as an important public health concern long before the declaration of the MDGs and SDGs by the UN (Gruskin et al., 2008; World Health Assembly, 1998; WHO, 1999; UN, 1995). Relevant organizations within the UN such as the WHO, UNICEF and UNFPA have established the right to life as a fundamental human right which seeks to promote not only gender equality and reproductive rights, but also foster conditions essential for life and survival. These conditions include access to health care services and immunization, housing and security, and food and good drinking water that will ensure safe pregnancy and childbirth for all women (WHO, 1999). Although there has been a steady decline in maternal mortality rate from 532,000 in 1990 to 303,000 in 2015, the global maternal mortality rate remains (WHO, 2015). This decline in global MMR is likely the results of progress made in developing countries to improve their MRR, possibly in response to the MDG goals (WHO, 2015).

It has been established that maternal deaths in third-world countries are often the ultimate tragic consequence of the cumulative denial of women's human rights. In other words, women are not dying because of terminal illness or deadly diseases, but rather because of failure of societies to consider women's lives as worth saving (Sai, 2000 cited in Ransom & Yinger, 2002; Fathalla, 2006). Available evidence suggests that 99% of the global maternal mortality occurs in developing countries with almost 67% taking place in SSA (Ashford, 2013; Srivastava et al., 2015; WHO, 2015). Significant proportions of these deaths occur in the rural areas of developing countries where there are scarce resources for obstetric care. The lack of universal access to

reproductive health services among women in low-income countries has also contributed immensely to the global MMR (UN, 2006; Hogan et al., 2010; Mangham-Jefferies et al., 2014). Endorsements on the universal access to reproductive health services were re-echoed in 2012 during the UN General Assembly meeting in New York to tackle the unacceptably high maternal mortality in developing countries including those in SSA (DAWN 2012). Despite these attempts to alleviate the problem, women still risk death to give life, even though they have the right to life and health care. The societal attitude of looking down at women has resulted in the denial of their rights to maternal health care services to ensure safe pregnancy and childbirth (Fathalla, 2006). The failure of developing countries to attain their MDG 5 targets at the end of 2015 could be the reason for the UN to repeat maternal health matters in goal three of the new UN's SDG's (see e.g. SDG 3.1: reduce the global MRR to less than 70/100,000 live births by 2030) agenda.

Ghana has continued to make progress in reducing its maternal mortality since the declaration of the MDGs in the year 2000. For instance, Ghana has virtually reduced the MMR by half, from 740/100,000 in 1990 to 319/100,000 live births in 2014 (Ghana Development Planning Commission, 2015; WHO/ UNFPA, 2015). Even though this reduction is significant, Ghana could not meet its MDG 5 target of 185 deaths/100,000 live births. This means that Ghana needs to develop more pragmatic approaches to improve the structural economic and other living conditions of women, and to protect expectant mothers from preventable deaths. Ghana's inability to meet its MDG5 target could be due to lack of maternal health interventions at the community level and the cumulative denial of women's rights with respect to employment opportunities and other social conditions. Nevertheless, research examining the effects of community-level factors on maternal health outcomes is extremely limited in Ghana compared to other countries in the sub-region.

Results from this study demonstrated that half of the mothers in the survey had obtained secondary/higher education and the majority were employed, just over half identified within the poor income bracket. The majority of mothers in the study attended the recommended number of prenatal classes, gave birth in a health care facility and attended postnatal care two months after giving birth.

Arguably, the above findings are intriguing considering the fact that Ghana as a country has not performed well when it comes to female education, facility-based delivery and possibly women's employment. Although women's education has improved significantly at the post-secondary and tertiary level according to the 2010 Population and Housing Census compared to that of the 1970 figures, there is further room for improvement. For instance, 6.3% of Ghanaian women had post-secondary and tertiary education and 38.4% had no education in 2010 compared to 2.2% and 82.3% respectively, in 1970 (GSS, 2013).

Previous studies have revealed that the majority of pregnant women in Ghana seek antenatal care from health professionals. However, only one in two women deliver in a health facility, and three in four women seek postnatal care (GSS, 2009; GHS, 2009; Doku et al., 2012; Speizer et al., 2014). The findings of this study showed similar trend with respect to ANC attendants, but many more women delivered in health institutions. Likewise, the findings of this study again corroborate with the views of other studies from Ghana with slight variations regarding the trend of skilled delivery at birth. For example, Esena & Sappor (2013) reported on the trends of skilled delivery in the Ga East Municipality of Ghana at 29.8% in 2008, 31.6% in 2009 and 37.5% in 2010, respectively. This is very low compared to the national figure of 68% in 2011 (UNICEF, 2014), and that of 54.6% reported in 2013 (GHS/RCH, 2014). This indicates that some pregnant women in the municipality prefer home delivery with the TBA to facilitybased delivery.

Although, Ghana has had challenges in the past with regard to facility-based delivery and postnatal care, the findings of increased usage of facility-based delivery and postnatal care in this study, could be the result of various policies being rolled out by the GHS/MOH and its partners to ensure progress towards the attainment of the MDG 4 and 5. These policies included the government of Ghana's policy of exempting expectant mothers from delivery fees in all public health institutions in September 2003, the implementation of the free maternal health care policy under the NHIS. The above policies exposed pregnant women in Ghana to a range of subsidized and comprehensive health care services including ANC and delivery (Witter et al., 2007; Opoku, 2009; GHS/RCH, 2014; GSS, 2015; Ganle, 2014).

The policy documents analysis in Table 4 confirms the above claim regarding pregnant women having access to a broad range of services. The analysis reveals that the government of Ghana through the MOH has geographically expanded the CHPS and health training institutions to scale up the training of midwives to increase skilled delivery at birth in the CHPS zones and compounds. For instance, it was mentioned in one of the policy documents that government, through the local government authority, was to build additional 450 CHPS zones to increase access and use of modern contraceptives, ANC, postnatal care and adolescent health (Ghana Health Sector POW MOH, 2013). Likewise, the evaluation of the free maternal health care policy put forward by the HERA-HPG (2013), upholds the finding that facility-based deliveries in Ghana have increased since the introduction and implementation of the aforementioned policies.

The expansion of various health training institutions to train more health professionals (mainly midwives to oversee the numerous CHPS compounds and zones built across the country) is an important step for Ghana in sustaining its gains in reducing maternal and infant mortality and improve upon it (see Table 4). However, recent news articles have blamed the government of Ghana for refusing to employ graduates from the health training institutions to provide health care to the citizenry, including skilled attendants at birth to pregnant women (Ghana Web, 2016). This has resulted in the scarcity of human resources for health care, particularly the rural communities in Ghana, where pregnant women travel long distances to access facility-based delivery services. This brings to attention controversies that surround health policy and its implementation as indicated by Banchani and Tenkorang (2014), and Witter et al. (2013) that most health policies in Ghana have a weak link in addressing the contents of the policies, more specifically the lack of detailed planning for policy implementation. These experts further bemoaned that policies without guidelines and provision of adequate resources to ensure its smooth implementation do not yield good results.

Regardless of the above-mentioned achievements in Ghana with respect to facility-based delivery, a recent documentary of the Ghanaian media by Seth Kwame Boateng (2017) on the state of maternal health care in the second largest teaching hospital in Ghana indicates that facility- based delivery is not always of high quality and devoid of maternal deaths. The YouTube video entitled 'Next to die' simply means if ten pregnant women require Caesarean sections as an emergency treatment to save their lives and that of their babies, only one or two of them can be saved due to inadequate theatres and equipment to perform the operation. The rest need to wait for their turn, and within the waiting period they could die or develop complications. Again, due to the number of women waiting for emergency treatment (Caesarean sections), the theatre bed and instruments are not properly disinfected and sterilized before the operations are carried out in order to safe more women from dying. These are the serious situations that women are victim to in their quest to seek skilled delivery at birth that can give them cross infections of various types including HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis.

Another interesting revelation from the YouTube video was that some of the pregnant women were sleeping on the floor while others were sharing a bed together. The situation was worst amongst newborn babies. Three or four newborn babies with infectious conditions shared the same cot due to lack of space to be able to place a separate cot for each baby. These unfortunate situations and many others occurring to women could be some of the reasons why Ghana could not attain its MDG 5 goal of 185 deaths/ 100 000 live births at the end of 2015. In addition, the YouTube video clearly demonstrates that the health systems in Ghana do not only need more skilled professionals (nurses and doctors), but modern health infrastructure for maternal health care where emergency operations can be performed. This will ensure availability of care and improve quality of care for women at all levels of the health system in Ghana.

Nonetheless, some of the above-mentioned findings run contrary to studies in other developing countries where ANC and facility-based deliveries have been reported to be very low compared to the use of maternal services in Ghana after the inception of the MDGs (Yebyo et al., 2014; Amano et al., 2012; Haque et al., 2016).

Several studies have underscored the positive association between ANC and facilitybased delivery in developing countries, including Ghana (Amano et al., 2012; Moyer & Mustafa, 2013; Lambon-Quayefio & Owoo, 2014; Yebyo et al., 2014). Nevertheless, some socio-cultural variables (poverty, religion, place of residence, and maternal education) according to existing literature have weakened the impact of ANC on facility-based delivery (Gyimah et al., 2006; Gabrysch & Campbell 2009; Moyer et al., 2013; Ganle, 2014; Haque et al., 2016). For example, experts have identified religion and parity as significant predictors of pregnant women's place of delivery (Stephenson et al., 2006; GSS et al., 2009; Anyait et al., 2012; Tey & Lai, 2013; Haque et al., 2016). Previous studies helped highlight why women from the Northern tribes were less likely to seek ANC and facility-based delivery in Ghana (Ganle, 2014, 2015; Gyimah et al., 2006). These authors emphatically stated religion as a strong determinant of maternal health utilization in Ghana, and demonstrated that Muslim women were less likely to access facilitybased delivery services during childbirth due to their religious beliefs. The finding of this study confirms the above-mentioned claim because while Muslim women made the recommended ANC visits, they failed to seek delivery and postnatal care services.

This study indicates that pregnant women who are ingrained in their belief systems, particularly amongst the Traditionalists are less likely to use ANC, and facility-based delivery services or postnatal care (see Table 3). This finding is consistent with other related studies in Ghana that women's belief systems contribute to the poor utilization of maternal health services, including the use of unsafe abortions services which put women's lives in greater danger (GSS/GHS, 2009; Henry & Fayorsey, 2002; IPAS, 2008; Sedgh, 2010; Morhee & Morhee, 2006; Senah, 2003).

Besides religion, our findings demonstrated a negative relationship between parity and the use of the outcome measures which corroborates with the claims of Anyait et al. (2012) and Haque et al. (2016) that women's place of delivery is dependent on their previous experiences of labour. Also, it was recognized that the higher the parity of a woman, the lower her chances of giving birth in a health facility. A possible explanation for this paradox could be that women who have had four or more births successfully see themselves as experienced with the birthing process and thus, may think they need no assistance from skilled birth attendants (Haque et al., 2016). Alternatively, they may consider the time they spend away from home as having a negative impact on the care of their older children. These findings suggest the need for continuous maternal health education to all women regarding the dangers associated with multiparous women delivering outside the health facilities to avoid the many preventable deaths that occur during labour. This indicates that facility-based delivery<sup>5</sup> with skilled birth attendants has better pregnancy outcomes than home delivery with TBAs in Ghana as indicated in the GDHS 2014 survey (GSS, 2015). For example, Cofie et al. (2015) identified two patterns of preferences and birth outcomes in Ghana namely: preference for home delivery and facilitybased delivery. The results indicated that pregnant women who delayed care seeking and delivered at home had increased cases of stillbirths and postpartum morbidities compared to those who had facility-based delivery.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Facility-based delivery in the Ghanaian context is used interchangeably with skilled attendant at birth. In Ghana, skilled delivery only takes place in health facilities. Health professional such as midwives, nurses, and doctors do not attend and deliver pregnant women in their homes. Pregnant women can only receive such services in health facilities such as clinics, health posts, health centres, hospitals and registered private health facilities, including Maternity Homes. It is only Traditional Birth Attendants (TBAs) who conduct deliveries in the client's home.

Ethnicity was also found to be statistically associated with some outcome variables under consideration. For instance, women from the Northern tribes were observed to be more likely to seek facility-based delivery and postnatal care compared to the Akans (see Table 3). This finding runs contrary to many studies in the three Northern regions of Ghana with respect to maternal health outcomes in the past (GHS/GSS, 2009; Banchani & Tenkorange, 2014; Afulani, 2015; Ganle, 2015; Amoakoh-Coleman). For example, according to the GHS/GSS (2009) four in every five births in the Greater-Accra region were delivered in the health facility compared to one in four births in the Northern region. Thus, this recent finding could be the result of the continuous health education within small communities coupled with the many CHPS compounds and zones in the three Northern regions of Ghana. Also, the impressive performances of the outcome measures among pregnant women in Northern Ghana could be one of the positive impacts of the free maternal health policy which allows pregnant women to seek skilled attendants before, during and after birth.

This study adds to other concerns raised by some scholars in Ghana and other developing countries in the past, that women's wealth combined with education enhances maternal health service uptake (Abekah-Nkrumah et al., 2011; Abor et al., 2011; Arthur, 2012; Doku et al., 2012; Haque et al., 2016). Women's wealth through higher education and employment opportunities bring improvement in their socioeconomic status that in turn may result in better maternal outcomes. The results of this study demonstrated that women's educational background was positively associated with the use of the three outcome measures. Pregnant women with secondary/higher education were 86% more likely to access facility delivery services and 44% more likely to access postnatal care compared their uneducated counterparts, having adjusted for other theoretical relevant variables. It is interesting, however, to note that employed women were

less likely to go for facility-based delivery. This counter-intuitive finding may be because we use an employment variable that is extremely limited. In their analysis of antenatal care in Ghana, Banchani & Tenkorang (2015) used a detailed 'employment' variable to demonstrate that the majority of employed women in Ghana are in fact 'self-employed'. They also note that unlike those in 'managerial/professional/clerical' and 'service' occupations, self-employed Ghanaian women tend to have limited education leading to their antenatal health access being not so different or even sometimes worse than the uneducated. Thus, the relationship between employment, education and maternal health outcomes of women in Ghana is complex and needs to be properly unpacked with qualitative data. Meanwhile, the finding is inconsistent with Kamal (2013) who indicated that in Bangladesh, employed and educated women were more likely to seek facility-based delivery and caesarean sections compared to unemployed and uneducated women. Kamal further indicated that women with high socioeconomic statuses have the power to utilize private health facilities for quality maternal health care services. Kamal's finding is consistent with some studies in Ghana that women within the higher socioeconomic statuses prefer the use of private health facilities during labour and postnatal care (Banchani and Tenkorang, 2014; Afulani, 2015). Despite the aforesaid explanations, these findings need to be investigated further to better understand why employed women compared to unemployed women are less likely to access facility-based delivery services.

The results of the study confirm the negative impacts of rural residence on the use of maternal health services in Ghana. Women in rural areas were less likely to access the three outcome variables compared to women in urban areas. Apart from ANC visits, facility-based delivery and postnatal care were poorly utilized by women in rural Ghana (see Table 3). Previous studies have explained this problem by maintaining that women in urban areas often have higher

socioeconomic statuses which can affect their use of maternal health services. For instance, it has been stated elsewhere that almost 24 percent of the poorest women deliver with skilled attendants, compared to about 95 percent of the richest women in Ghana. Other studies have also linked urban residence with higher quality of maternal health care services in Ghana compared to their rural counterparts. For example, women from urban areas do not need to travel long distance to access comprehensive care and at the same time have private health facilities at their disposal to access maternal health care services for a fee from equally well-trained professionals.

The low quality of maternal health care services provided to rural people in Ghana and other developing nations is a consequence of less developed health infrastructure and inadequately trained health professional to provide the needed quality of care. Some experts have stated that women in rural Ghana are more likely to be treated poorly, even when they seek care in urban facilities compared to women in urban areas. Compared to those from urban areas, women residing in rural areas lack financial resources to pay for transportation cost to access quality care at critical moments beyond their catchment areas even when the costs of services are covered by NHIS (Gabrysch & Campbell, 2009; Friberg et al., 2010; Izugbara & Ngilangwa, 2010; GSS, 2011; Lori et al., 2012; UNDP, 2012; Graham et al., 2013; Moyer & Mustafa, 2013; Yebyo et al., 2014; Moyer et al., 2014; Afulani, 2015).

The rural-urban differences in maternal health care services with respect to infrastructural development and the distribution of human resources is a well-known problem in Ghana over the past number of decades (Lori et al., 2012; UNDP, 2012; Agyemang & Aboagye, 2013). A review of policy documents on maternal and child health care of the MOH Ghana has indicated this point in addition to many of the 5YPOW documents. For example, the bridging of equity gaps in

geographical access to health care, and the provision of social insurance to protect the poor were identified as key priority areas of the MOH policies with regards to maternal and child health care (MOH, 2013). The CHPS concept (Ghana's own version of the PHC system by the WHO) was developed by the GHS/MOH to solve problems of equity gaps between rural and urban Ghana with respect to health care delivery. The CHPS concept since its inception has contributed immensely in providing maternal access in rural Ghana, especially the provision of ANC, facility-based delivery and postnatal care services (see Table 4).

This notwithstanding, equity gaps still exist in the provision of ANC, facility delivery, and postnatal services in rural and urban Ghana. Quality of care, infrastructural development, lack of skilled professionals to manage rural health facilities, poor road networks, poor referral systems and cost are some of the reasons for these equity gaps. This could be one of the reasons why Ghana was unable to meet the MDG 5 target of 185 deaths/100,000 live births in 2015, despite innovative programs rolled out by the government of Ghana and its developing partners to safeguard the lives of pregnant women. Approximately 50% of Ghana's population live in rural areas with the majority of women uneducated and lacking access to basic health care (GSS, 2012; Gething et al., 2012; Afulani, 2015). The findings of this study are in consonance with the views of Gething et al. (2012) that the complexity of access factors in addition to distances to health facilities are significant barriers in Ghana, especially for rural dwellers, making it very difficult for women to access maternal health care. They further explained that approximately a third of women in rural Ghana live more than four hours away from district health facilities and, therefore, stand a higher risk of dying in the event of unexpected complications during labour or delivery. This assertion seems to agree with the Solar and Irwin (2010) that health inequities are the consequences of unequal distribution of power, prestige, and resources among groups around

92

the globe, nations, societies and communities. Therefore, we call on the government of Ghana and MOH to do more to solve the numerous challenges facing the smooth implementation of the CHPS concept to make the policies outlined in various documents a reality rather than a mere political promise.

The case of inequalities in accessing maternal health care services in most developing countries are not vastly different from that of Ghana as indicated by Osorio et al. (2014) and Yebyo et al. (2014) that regional inequalities exist with regard to maternal health services in Colombia and Ethiopia, respectively. These experts stated low socioeconomic development, lack of health infrastructural development at the community level and skilled attendants to provide care to women as the basis for the inequalities. This indicates that besides health infrastructural developments in the structural economic conditions of women and their families are key in bridging the equity gaps in the uptake of maternal health services (Solar and Irwin, 2010).

Furthermore, access to National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS) remains a strong predictor of maternal health services utilization after controlling for socioeconomic and demographic factors. This is an indication that NHIS is helping to bridge the inequality gaps in maternal health access since the use of skilled attendants at birth is a protective factor against maternal death. It is therefore important for women to enrol onto the NHIS in order to seek subsequent care in health facilities after previous child birth-related complications without any charges (see e.g. Arthur, 2012; Dixon et al., 2014; Amoakoh-Coleman et al., 2015). The positive association between maternal health care access and NHIS is consistent with the findings of Addai, (2000), Mensah et al. (2010) and Dzakpasu et al. (2012), who previously contended that NHIS has the likelihood to increase the use of maternal health care services in Ghana and beyond. These studies suggested that direct financial costs such as the out-of-pocket payments and cost of transportation as some of the main barriers that prevented pregnant women from accessing the services of skilled attendants during delivery, especially in Ghana where a skilled attendant at birth can only be attained in health facility. This affects pregnant women who do not have money to pay for the cost of drugs, not covered by NHIS, and transportation costs could all be factors that lead them to avoid the use of maternal health services. This is also in line with a number of statements made in the policy documents and reports on maternal and child health care in Ghana with respect to the positive relationship between access to health care and NHIS enrolment. There is a strong need for scheme operators through the media to embark on massive education to convince uninsured Ghanaians, especially women, to register to benefit from the package awaiting them in the event of pregnancy. Despite the fundamental role played by NHIS in reducing inequalities in health care financing in Ghana, particularly maternal and child health care, the scheme is fraught with several challenges that sometimes overshadow the benefits of the scheme. The challenges include the inability of the National Health Insurance Authority (NHIA) to roll out designed programs (Capitation grant) successfully, poor implementation guidelines, inability of the NHIA to make prompt payment to providers, failure of government to pay the scheme on time, poor financial management, lack of capacity to procure essential drug and non-drug consumables, poor information management systems and over politicization of the scheme. Others include perceived poor quality of health care services to card holders, unwieldy enrolment procedure, lack of trust in scheme officials, insufficient benefit package, long distances to health facilities, negative provider attitude and overcrowding in health facilities (Witter et al., 2009; Sakyi et al., 2012; HERA-BHPG, 2013; Dixon et al., 2014; Kusi et al.,

2015). It is also important to mention that the usage of NHIS in health facilities does not eliminate all financial barriers with respect to facility-based delivery. Indirect expenses such as the cost of transportation for pregnant women and family members accompanying them coupled with informal payments in the health facilities, and this discourages the poor from accessing maternal health care during emergencies (Johnson et al., 2015; Dzakpasu et al., 2014; Ridde et al. 2012).

It is well known that barriers due to geographical distance to care have an adverse effect on the chances of pregnant women seeking care in most developing countries including Ghana. In Ghana, Gething and colleagues (2012) stated emphatically that geographical access is largely deprived with long distances to health facilities predominantly in the rural areas making it extremely hard for the majority of expectant mothers to seek health care. Other studies in Ghana and elsewhere have argued that distance to health facilities, lack of transportation, poor quality of health care and the dearth of information sometimes discourage poor women from seeking skilled attendant at birth (Ofori-Adjei 2007; Immpact 2008; Witter et al. 2009; Gabrysch et al., 2011; Dzakpasu et al., 2014; Yebyo et al. 2014). The findings of this study support the abovementioned claims that long distance travel to health facilities deters pregnant women from accessing health care. The problem of distance and the lack of availability of care in remote areas seems to defeat the agenda of the free maternal health care policy in Ghana as a pro-poor intervention to bridge the rich-poor inequity gap in facility-based delivery due to transportation barriers. The reverse is actually taking effect in Ghana as the rich are benefiting more than the poor with respect to the NHIS due to indirect cost associated with maternal health care utilization (Dzakpasu et al., 2014). This problem could be overturned by the government of Ghana through the district assembly concept to empower women in rural areas through credit creation for them

to earn a living. This will enable poor women to pay for implicit costs that come with maternal health care utilization such as transportation and non-medical cost in order to benefit fully from the NHIS coverage. This highlights the importance of improving the social conditions of women that could have multiple effects in their lives with respect to reproductive health care.

For instance, our results at the multivariate level showed that women who considered distance as a problem to health facilities were 84% less likely to access facility-based delivery compared to those who had no problem with respect to distance to health facility. The negative impact of distance on maternal health care access is worst in remote areas in Ghana, especially in sparsely populated communities where there are poor road networks, and the non-availability of care due lack of infrastructure and human resources for health care (Gething et al., 2012; Adu, 2013). This study however, point to the negative effects of distance on the CHPS concept and NHIS in Ghana as the sole means of bridging the equity gap in maternal health care utilization between the rural-urban residents and the rich-poor. This illustrates how inequalities in maternal health care utilization will continue to exist in Ghana, unless the government and Civil Society Organizations (CSOs) are more active in removing some of the key barriers in accessing health care in the hard-to-reach areas in rural Ghana.

Remarkably, the focus of this study went beyond individual and household factors and examined the net effects of community-level factors on maternal health outcomes in Ghana where there is a paucity of literature. Interestingly, the findings at the community level showed some rural-urban disparities in the use of maternal health care services (see Table 2). Expectant mothers in urban areas were found to use maternal health services (ANC and facility-based delivery) more than their rural counterparts. This finding is consistent with previous studies elsewhere where there was a higher likelihood of urban residents seeking maternal health care compared to rural residents who are poor; it also deterred access to health care service utilization (see Mills & Bertrand, Babalola & Fatusi, 2009; Doctor, 2011; Osorio et al., 2014; Yebyo et al., 2014; Amoako-Coleman et al., 2015). These disparities could be explained by the fact that urban communities are abreast of modern health facilities and the majority of women in urban centers are employed and wealthy, hence they are not deterred by barriers that prevent rural women from seeking maternal health care in times of need. This is not to ignore the fact that not all women in urban Ghana have all the means to patronize modern health facilities for maternal health care services. Women in slum areas in urban Ghana have almost the same problems with respect to indirect medical cost and other drug-related costs that are not covered by the NHIS as a result of the complete denial of their rights regarding good employment opportunities and improved living conditions.

It is important to note that after controlling for wealth and other demographic variables at the multivariate level, it was found that women dwelling in communities with higher average years of education were more likely to make the WHO-recommended ANC visits and access health facilities for delivery services. Conversely, women residing in communities with low average years of education were less likely to visit health facilities for the said services, and sometimes pay the price of dying in the event of serious complications (Dako-Gyeke et al., 2013; Moyer, 2012). These observations are in agreement with past research that has highlighted the positive impact of women's education on maternal health services utilization (Abor et al., 2011; Rominski et al., 2014; Asamoah et al., 2014; Yebyo et al., 2014; Amoako-Coleman et al., 2015). This reiterates the debate on the significance of girl child education in developing nations in their quest to reduce maternal and infant mortality to an acceptable level. Educated women to some extent, have the ability to fight against societal norms that have negative consequences on pregnant woman and the unborn child. Women who are educated have the fiscal power and are autonomous to make decision in times of emergency without waiting on their partners or in-laws which in a way can avoid the three delays that result in maternal mortality and morbidity as indicated by (Thaddeus & Maine, 1994). Besides, continuous health promotion activities in the form of maternal education should be provided by health professionals periodically to inculcate maternal health care seeking behavior among women in communities noted for poor use of maternal health services. Health professionals could strengthen this by partnering with local media houses (radio stations) to promote the importance of maternal health care services in such communities. For instance, if health promotion officers in these communities embark on home visit to educate women and their significant others on the essence of maternal health care utilization, the chances are that the women will possibly utilize health facilities for its intended purposes. This will remind them of the importance of accessing maternal health care services during pregnancy, labour and puerperium (six weeks postnatal).

Another important finding discovered in this study was the negative association between wealth and postnatal care services at the community level. Women in communities with higher wealth status were found to be significantly less likely to use postnatal care services. This finding is contrary to previous studies that mothers from wealthy households are more likely to seek immediate postnatal care due to their ability to pay for both direct and indirect costs associated with facility deliveries and possibly postnatal care services. Again, it is a recognized fact that women from wealthy households are more likely to benefit from media campaigns through radio and television news on the importance of postnatal care than their counterparts from less wealthy households, who do not follow radio and television news, but rely only on health care facility for postnatal services. Nevertheless, the poor quality of postnatal care services at the community health facilities and some districts hospitals might also prevent wealthy women from patronizing postnatal care services (Khanal et al., 2014). In the same vein, wealthy women in Ghana could travel outside their communities to nearby urban centers to access quality maternal health services including postnatal care.

In addition, similar studies have argued that the lack of awareness at the community level on the significance of postnatal care, make some mothers forgo the service. This is because majority of the people at the community level see postnatal services being important only when women have complications during birth or after delivery (Titaley et al., 2010). The maternal health-seeking behaviour of women at the community level can also influence postnatal care services amongst women, which is dependent on the availability of health facilities and skilled attendants to provide quality care. The absence of care and the attitude of women towards the postnatal care in the community can dissuade others from using the service (Ononokpono, 2015). In spite of the above discussion, this finding underscores the need for experts to adopt a multilevel analysis to understand the maternal health-seeking behavior at the community level with respect to postnatal care services among the wealthy in Ghana.

## 6.2 Limitations of the study

There are some limitations within this research study that must be considered and discussed. One of these limitations is recall bias. The DHS data have some limitations since the data are retrospectively and simultaneously collected which can suffer recall bias from respondents and this could affect the outcome of the results. The data used did not include all women in Ghana, but only women aged 15-49 who were pregnant and attended ANC, facility-

based delivery and postnatal care services within the last five years prior to the 2014 GDHS survey. This therefore does not represent the views of all women of reproductive age in Ghana. The cross-sectional nature of the data makes it difficult to draw 'causal' connections between the outcome and predictor variables.

Similarly, the GDHS does not collect data on community-level factors with regard to maternal health utilization. The data is collected at only the individual and household levels; hence the researchers created the community-level factors by aggregating individual data into cluster values since it formed an important part of the study. Again, there was scarcity of literature on the effects of community-level factors on maternal health outcomes in Ghana and this hindered comparison and contrasting of our findings. This overcome by making useful comparisons with studies in other countries within the sub-region and beyond.

As well, the researcher could not get access to a number of policy documents on maternal and child health care in Ghana electronically and due to time constraints and physical distance, the researcher was unable to travel to Ghana for hard copies of these documents. As a result, we analyzed a limited number of policy documents since most the documents acquired electronically did not have any budgetary allocations and therefore, excluded in the final analysis since budget allocations to various policies form an important objective of our document analysis. However, the few that were analysed helped to make useful connections with the 2014 GDHS data with respect to maternal health care in Ghana. Regardless of these shortcomings, the study suggests a number of important conclusions.

## **6.3 Conclusions**

This study examined the effects of both individual and community-level factors on maternal health outcomes in Ghana and highlighted that both individual and community-level factors determine women's decisions regarding ANC, facility-based delivery and postnatal care. At both the individual and community levels, this research identified that the journey to a wellequipped health facility represents a routine barrier to the majority of women, especially in rural Ghana during pregnancy and childbirth.

A significant proportion of women (89.2%) had four or more antenatal visits, 74.3% had facility-based delivery and 73.3% had postnatal care at the time of the survey. This notwithstanding, it was found at the bivariate analysis that women residing in rural communities were 99% and 98% less likely to utilize ANC and facility-based delivery care services compared to women in urban communities. Parity was significantly associated with women's use of ANC and facility delivery services; and women with four or more births were less likely to access health facilities for both ANC and delivery services compared to women with less than three births.

NHIS was statistically associated with the use of all the three outcome measures in relation to access to health care services. This means pregnant women with NHIS cards were more likely to access maternal health services compared to those without NHIS cards. However, distance to health facilities was negatively associated with women's use of the outcome variables in rural Ghana. The problems of distance were enormous to the extent of even overriding the positive effect of the NHIS and the CHPS concepts on maternal health utilization in Ghana. Women's educational background and wealth status were identified to be highly associated with maternal health utilization across Ghana. The majority of educated women have formal employment and therefore, are not discouraged by the barriers that deter the uneducated women in their quest to access maternal health care services, especially in the case of those in rural Ghana. For example, at the community level, results suggested that women in communities with higher education were significantly more likely to access antenatal care and facility delivery.

Finally, the document review and content analysis of policy documents on maternal and child health care in Ghana revealed implementation challenges facing the MOH/GHS in rolling out policies designed to bridge the equity gaps in maternal health care services. Other policy documents established a weak link in addressing the scarcity of human resources and infrastructure for health care services within the contents of the policies, more specifically the lack of detailed planning for policy implementation. The bridging of the equity gaps in health care delivery in Ghana (maternal and child health care services) requires inter-sectoral collaboration: this was neglected to be revealed in any of the policy documents reviewed. The findings of this study have policy implications for health care delivery (reproductive health care services) in Ghana.

## 6.4 Recommendations for policy makers and future research

Poor maternal health outcomes have been of huge concern in Ghana. Findings from this study indicate that improving access to maternal health services is a major factor in reducing maternal mortality and morbidity as well as bridging the equity gaps in Ghana. The outcomes of this study have led to the following recommendations:

- There is a need for inter-sectoral collaborations between the Ministry of Health, Ministry
  of Finance and Economic Planning, Ministry of Housing, and Ministry of Roads and
  Transport in tackling the issue of equity gaps in health care access in rural-urban Ghana
  through infrastructural development in the area of road construction and health facilities.
- 2. The government of Ghana should do more to solve some of the numerous challenges (human resources, infrastructural and logistical constraints, and poor road networks) facing the smooth implementation of the CHPS concept to make the policies outlined in various documents a reality rather than a mere political promise.
- 3. The government of Ghana, policy makers in education and CSOs should prepare innovative policies to keep girls in school, especially in rural areas of Ghana in order for them to acquire knowledge on reproductive health and the empowerment benefits it offers women.
- 4. The government of Ghana should continue to develop the adolescent health component of reproductive health nationwide to educate youth on their reproductive rights to avoid unwanted pregnancies that result in maternal deaths.
- 5. The government of Ghana should provide the needed funds for reproductive health policies and detailed policy guidelines for full implementation to safeguard maternal and child health care services. The availability of funds together with detailed policy guidelines could bring about smooth implementation of the policy to save mothers and children in Ghana.

- 6. Health policy makers in Ghana should be guided by WHO health policy guidelines to prepare policies that are not too broad, but realistic and measurable for smooth implementation; and policy documents of MOH should be made accessible to the public through the health information department of the ministry to enable researchers and CSOs to access them to make suggestions for future policy improvements.
- 7. The human resources division of the MOH should advise the government of Ghana to restore the training allowances of the health training institutions to increase enrolment among trainees to produce more skilled personnel to manage the various CHPS compounds and zones in rural communities.
- 8. The National Health Insurance Authority (NHIA) should be nonpartisan in order to improve it by ensuring that monies due them will be timely paid by the government to pay providers on time for continuity of care; and also, take steps to make the social health insurance attractive to invite more people into the scheme through media education, especially women, to register to benefit from the package awaiting them in the event of pregnancy. The NHIA should employ more qualified staff such as health economist and financial administrators to manage the scheme instead of politicians who have no expertise in financial administration and management, and all the activities within the NHIA should be monitored frequently by independent bodies to prevent financial malfeasance that has occurred in the past.
- 9. Policy interventions directed towards alleviation of poverty amongst women in rural Ghana should be initiated by government and CSOs to enhance the financial security of women in rural Ghana given the prevalence of poverty in the area.

- 10. Government and Civil Society Organizations (CSOs) should do more to remove some of the key barriers such as poor road networks, lack of transportation, non-availability of care, poverty, and illiteracy in accessing health care in the hard-to-reach areas in rural Ghana to bridge the inequalities in maternal health care utilization.
- 11. Continuous health promotion activities in the form of maternal education should be provided by health professionals periodically to inculcate maternal health care seeking behavior among women in communities noted for poor use of maternal health services. Health professionals could strengthen this by partnering with local media houses (radio stations) to promote the importance of maternal health care services in such communities. For instance, if health promotion officers in these communities embark on home visit to educate women and their significant others on the essence of maternal health care utilization, the chances are that the women will possibly utilize health facilities for its intended purposes.
- 12. Health facilities at the community-level in Ghana should be provided with the needed equipment and the requisite health professional to impose confident in women to use the facilities for maternal health care services.
- 13. The obstetric and gynecological departments in tertiary hospitals in Ghana should be provided with modern infrastructural and adequate health professionals to give quality care to women refer for emergency obstetric care.

It is recommended that further research is needed in the areas of:

1. The effects of individual and community-level factors on maternal health care utilization in Ghana using a mixed method approach.

- 2. The role of the Ghanaian media in reducing maternal and infant mortality in the wake of the SDG's.
- Finally, further studies should be conducted in various communities in Ghana using primary data to investigate the relationship between women's wealth and the use of postnatal care services.

## References

- Abekah-Nkrumah, G., Abor, P., Abor. J. & Adjasi, C.K.D. (2011),"Improving maternal healthcare utilisation in sub-Saharan Africa through micro- finance", *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 24(8), 601-610.
- Abor, P. A., Abekah-Nkrumah, G., Sakyi, K., Adjasi, C. K.D. & Abor, J (2011). The socioeconomic determinants of maternal health care utilization in Ghana. *International Journal of Social Economics* 7(38):628-648.
- Abugri –Akum, F. (2013). A Qualitative Study on Factors Contributing to Low
   Institutional Child Delivery Rates in Northern Ghana: The Case of Bawku Municipality.
   *J Community Med Health Educ* 3: 236.
- Achia, T. N., & Mageto, L. E. (2015). Individual and contextual determinants of adequate maternal health care services in Kenya. *Women & health*, *55*(2), 203-226.
- Adams, A. M., Nababan, H.Y., Hanifi, S.M.M.A. (2015). Building Social Networks for
   Maternal and Newborn Health in Poor Urban Settlements: A Cross Sectional Study in
   Bangladesh. *PLoS ONE* 10(4): e0123817.
- Addai, I. (2000). Determinants of use of maternal-child health services in rural Ghana, *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 32 (1), 1-15.
- Adjei, G., Enuameh, Y., Asante, K. P., Baiden, F., Nettey, O. E., Abubakari, S. ... &
  Owusu-Agyei, S. (2015). Predictors of abortions in Rural Ghana: a cross-sectional study. *BMC public health*, 15(1), 202.

- Adu, J. (2013). Localizing the Millennium Development Goals in Ghana: An Assessment of Goal Five in the Dangme West District (MPhil dissertation, University of Ghana).
- Adu-Bonsaffoh, K., Samuel, O.A, & Binlinla, G. (2013). Maternal Deaths Attributable to Hypertensive Disorders in a Tertiary Hospital in Ghana. *Int. J Gynaecol Obstet*. 123 (2):110-3.
- African Progress Panel (2010). Maternal health: investing in the lifeline of healthy societies and economies. African Progress Panel Policy Brief. Retrieved from <u>http://www.who.int/pmnch/topics/</u> maternal/app\_maternal\_health\_english.pdf (accessed Aug 11, 2017).
- Afulani, P. A. (2015). Rural/Urban and socioeconomic differentials in quality of antenatal care in Ghana. *PloS one*, *10*(2), e0117996.
- Agyemang, S.O. & Aboagye, E. (2013). Maternal Health-Seeking Behavior: The Role of Financing and Organization of Health Services in Ghana. *Global Journal of Health Science*; Vol. 5, No. 5.
- Aitken, Z., Garrett, C. C., Hewitt, B., Keogh, L., Hocking, J. S., & Kavanagh, A. M. (2015). The maternal health outcomes of paid maternity leave: A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine*, 130, 32-41.
- Alvarez, J. L., Gil, R., Hernández, V., & Gil, A. (2009). Factors associated with maternal mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa: an ecological study. *BMC Public Health*, 9(1), 462.

- Amano, A., Gebeyehu, A., & Birhanu, Z. (2012). Institutional delivery service utilization in Munisa Woreda, South East Ethiopia: a community based cross-sectional study. BMC pregnancy and childbirth, 12(1), 1.
- Aminu, M., Unkels, R., Mdegela, M., Utz, B., Adaji, S., & den Broek, N. (2014). Causes of and factors associated with stillbirth in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic literature review. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 121(s4), 141-153.
- Amoakoh-Coleman, M., Ansah, E. K., Agyepong, I. A., Grobbee, D. E., Kayode, G. A., & Klipstein-Grobusch, K. (2015). Predictors of skilled attendance at delivery among antenatal clinic attendants in Ghana: a cross-sectional study of population data. *BMJ open*, 5(5), e007810.
- Aniteye, P. (2012). Understanding the barriers to, and opportunities for, improving access to safe, legal abortion services in Ghana: a policy analysis (Doctoral dissertation, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine).
- Anyait, A, Mukanga, D, Oundo, GB, Nuwaha 2012, "Predictors for health facility delivery in Busia district of Uganda: Across sectional study", *BMC pregnancy and Child birth*, Vol. 12
- Arthur, E. (2012). Wealth and antenatal care use: implications for maternal health care utilisation in Ghana. *Health economics review*, 2(1), 1.

- Asamoah, B. O. (2014). Social determinants and the role of maternal health care services for equity in maternal health in Ghana from 1988–2008 (Doctoral dissertation, Lund University).
- Asamoah, B.O., Moussa, K. M., Stafström, M., Musinguzi, G. (2011). Distribution of Causes of Maternal Mortality among Different Socio-demographic Groups in Ghana; A descriptive study. *BMC Public Health*11:159.
- Asamoah, O.B., Agardh, A., Pettersson , O.K., & Per-Olof Östergren (2014). Magnitude and trends of inequalities in antenatal care and delivery under skilled care among different socio-demographic groups in Ghana from 1988 – 2008. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14:295.
- Ashford, L. (2013). Hidden Suffering: Disabilities from Pregnancy and Childbirth in Less Developed Countries, *Population Reference Bureau*.
- Austin, A., Gulema, H., Belizan, M., Colaci, D. S., Kendall, T., Tebeka, M., ... & Langer, A.
  (2015). Barriers to providing quality emergency obstetric care in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: Healthcare providers' perspectives on training, referrals and supervision, a mixed methods study. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 15(1), 74.
- Babalola, S., & Fatusi, A. (2009). Determinants of use of maternal health services in Nigeria-looking beyond individual and household factors. *BMC Pregnancy and childbirth*, 9(1), 1.

- Banchani, E., & Tenkorang, E. Y. (2014). Occupational Types and Antenatal Care Attendance Among Women in Ghana. *Health care for women international*, 35(7-9), 1040-1064.
- Banchani, E., & Tenkorang, E. Y. (2014). Implementation challenges of maternal health care in Ghana: the case of health care providers in the Tamale Metropolis. *BMC health services research*, 14(1), 7.
- Baskas, R. S. (2011). Applying Knowledge of Quantitative Design and Analysis. *Online Submission*.
- Bazzano, A. N., Kirkwood, B., Owusu-Agyei, S., Tawiah-Agyemang, C., Adongo, P. (2008).
  Social costs of skilled attendance at birth in rural Ghana. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics 102(1):91-4.*
- Beeckman, K., Louckx, F., and Putman, K. (2010). Determinants of the number of antenatal visits in a metropolitan region. *BMC Public Health*, *10:527*.
- Boateng, S. K. (2017, March 13). *Next to Die- Documentary on Joy News [Video file]*. Retrieved from http://www.www.youtube.com/watch?v=S278i3lHURA.
- Bohren, M. A., Hunter, E. C., Munthe-Kaas, H. M., Souza, J. P., Vogel, J. P., &
  Gülmezoglu, A. M. (2014). Facilitators and barriers to facility-based delivery in
  low-and middle-income countries: a qualitative evidence synthesis. *Reprod Health*, 11(1), 71.

- Bose, C. L., Bauserman, M., Goldenberg, R. L., Goudar, S. S., McClure, E. M., Pasha,
  O., ... Koso-Thomas, M. (2015). The Global Network Maternal Newborn Health
  Registry: a multi-national, community-based registry of pregnancy
  outcomes. *Reproductive Health*, *12*(Suppl 2), S1.
- Bowling, A. (2014). *Research methods in health: investigating health and health services*. McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- Boyle, M. H., Racine, Y., Georgiades, K., Snelling, D., Hong, S., Omariba, W., ... Rao
  Melacini, P. (2006). The influence of economic development level, household wealth and maternal education on child health in the developing world. *Social Science and Medicine*, 63(8), 2242-2254. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.04.034.
- Breslow, L. (2006). Health measurement in the third era of public health. *American Journal of Public Health*; 96:17–19.
- Breton, E., Richard, L., Gagnon, F., Jacques, M., & Bergeron, P. (2008). Health promotion research and practice require sound policy analysis models: the case of Quebec's Tobacco Act. Social science & medicine, 67(11), 1679-1689.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. American Psychologist, 32, 513–531.
- Bryk, A.S., & Raudenbush, S. W. (1992). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

- Callaghan, W. M., Creanga, A. A., & Kuklina, E. V. (2012). Severe maternal morbidity among delivery and postpartum hospitalizations in the United States. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *120*(5), 1029-1036.
- Clark, V. L. P., Creswell, J. W., Green, D. O. N., & Shope, R. J. (2008). Mixing quantitative and qualitative approaches. Handbook of emergent methods, 363-387.
- Coffey, A. (2014). Analysing documents. *The Sage handbook of qualitative data analysis*, 367-379.
- Cofie, L. E., Barrington, C., Akaligaung, A., Reid, A., Fried, B., Singh, K., ... & Barker, P. M.
  (2014). Integrating community outreach into a quality improvement project to promote maternal and child health in Ghana. *Global public health*, 9(10), 1184-1197.
- Cofie, L. E., Barrington, C., Singh, K., Sodzi-Tettey, S., & Akaligaung, A. (2015). Birth location preferences of mothers and fathers in rural Ghana: Implications for pregnancy, labor and birth outcomes. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 15, 165. <u>http://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-</u> 015-0604-2.
- Condelli, L., & Wrigley, H. S. (2004, March). Real world research: Combining qualitative and quantitative research for Adult ESL. In *NRDC Second International Conference for Adult Literacy and Numeracy An examination of research to practice initiatives within ESOL literacy*.
- Cooke, E., Hague, S., & McKay, A. (2016). The Ghana poverty and inequality report: Using the 6th Ghana living standards survey. Accessed on July 2, 2017 from https://www.unicef.org/ghana/Ghana\_Poverty\_and\_Inequality\_Anal...

- Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Gutmann, M. L., & Hanson, W. E. (2003). Advanced mixed methods research designs. *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research*, 209-240.
- Creswell, J. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Crissman, H. P., Engmann, C. E., Adanu, R. M., Nimako, D., Crespo, K., & Moyer, C. A. (2013). Shifting norms: pregnant women's perspectives on skilled birth attendance and facility–based delivery in rural Ghana. *African journal of reproductive health*, 17(1), 15-26.
- Dako-Gyeke, P., Aikins, M., Aryeetey, R., Mccough, L., & Adongo, P. B. (2013). The influence of socio-cultural interpretations of pregnancy threats on health-seeking behavior among pregnant women in urban Accra, Ghana. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 13(1), 211.
- Daniels, A. A., Ahenkan, A., & Poku, K. A. (2013). Factors Influencing the Utilization of Maternal Health Services: The Perspective of Rural Women in Ghana. *Journal of Public Administration and Governance*, 3(2), Pages-121.
- Declercq, E. R., Sakala, C., Corry, M. P., Applebaum, S., & Herrlich, A. (2013). Listening to mothers III: Pregnancy and birth. Report of the third national U.S. survey of women's childbearing experiences. New York, NY: Childbirth Connection. Retrieved from http:// transform.childbirthconnection.org/wp-content/ uploads/2015/06/LTM-III\_Pregnancy-

and-Birth.pdf. *Demographic and Health Survey 2008*. Accra, Ghana: GSS, GHS, and ICF Macro.

- Der, M. E., Moyer, C., Gyasi, K.R, Akosa, B.A, Tettey, Y., Akakpo K.P. et al. (2013).
  Pregnancy Related Causes of Deaths in Ghana: A 5-Year Retrospective Study;
  Ghana *Med J.* 47(4): 158–163.
- Dettrick, Z., Jimenez-Soto, E., & Hodge, A. (2014). Socioeconomic and geographical disparities in under-five and neonatal mortality in Uttar Pradesh, India. Maternal and child health journal, 18(4), 960-969.
- Development Alternatives with Women for a New Era (DAWN) (2012). DAWN welcomes historic CPD resolution on sexual and reproductive health and rights for adolescents and youth. Dawn Press Release on 45<sup>th</sup> CPD. From <u>https://www.dawnnet.org/feminist-</u> resources/content/dawncpd45-dawn-welcomes-historic-cpd-resolution-sexual-andreproductive-health-and-rights. Accessed 26 August 2016.
- Dhakal, S., Chapman, G. N., Simkhada, P. P., Van Teijlingen, E. R., Stephens, J., &
  Raja, A. E. (2007). Utilisation of postnatal care among rural women in Nepal. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 7(1), 19.
- Dixon, J., Tenkorang, E. Y., Luginaah, I. N., Kuuire, V. Z., & Boateng, G. O. (2014). National health insurance scheme enrolment and antenatal care among women in Ghana: is there any relationship? *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 19(1), 98-106.
- Doctor, H.V. (2011). Intergenerational differences in antenatal care and supervised deliveries in Nigeria. *Health Place 17*:480–9.

- Doku, D., Neupane, S., & Doku, P. N. (2012). Factors associated with reproductive health care utilization among Ghanaian women. *BMC international health and human rights*, *12*(1), 1.
- Draper, A. K., Hewitt, G., & Rifkin, S. (2010). Chasing the dragon: developing indicators for the assessment of community participation in health programmes. *Social science & medicine*, 71(6), 1102-1109.
- Duysburgh, E., Kerstens, B., Kouanda, S., Kaboré, C. P., Yugbare, D. B., Gichangi, P. ... &Temmerman, M. (2015). Opportunities to improve postpartum care for mothers and infants: design of context-specific packages of postpartum interventions in rural districts in four sub-Saharan African countries. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth, 15(1), 131.*
- Duysburgh, E., Zhang, W. H., Ye, M., Williams, A., Massawe, S., Sie, A., ... & Temmerman, M. (2013). Quality of antenatal and childbirth care in selected rural health facilities in Burkina Faso, Ghana and Tanzania: similar finding. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 18(5), 534-547.
- Dzakpasu S, Powell-Jackson T, Campbell, OMR. (2014). Impact of user fees on maternal health service utilization and related health outcomes: a systematic review. *Health Policy and Planning 29*: 137–50.
- Dzakpasu, S., Soremekun, S., Manu, A., Ten, A. G., Tawiah, C., Hurt, L., ... Kirkwood, B. R.
  (2012). Impact of free delivery care on health facility delivery and insurance coverage in Ghana's Brong Ahafo region. *PLoS ONE*, 7, 11, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049430.

- Ebuehi, O. M., & Akintujoye, I. (2012). Perception and utilization of traditional birth attendants by pregnant women attending primary health care clinics in a rural Local Government Area in Ogun State, Nigeria. *International Journal of Women's Health*, *4*, 25–34.
- Edmonds, J. K., Paul, M., & Sibley, L. (2012). Determinants of Place of Birth Decisions in Uncomplicated Childbirth in Bangladesh: An Empirical Study. *Midwifery*, 28(5), 554– 560.
- Ensor, T., Dakpallah, G., & Osei, D. (2001). Geographic resource allocation in the health sector of Ghana.
- Esena, K.R. & Sappor, M. (2013). Factors Associated with the Utilization of Skilled Delivery Services in the Ga East Municipality of Ghana Part 2: Barriers to Skilled Delivery; *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research 2* (8).
- Essendi, H., Mills, S., & Fotso, J. C. (2011). Barriers to formal emergency obstetric care services' utilization. *Journal of Urban Health*, 88(2), 356-369.
- Fathalla, M. F. (2006). Human rights aspects of safe motherhood. Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 20(3), 409-419.
- Friberg, I.K., Kinney, M.V., Lawn, J.E, Kerber, K.J, Odubanjo, M.O., et al. (2010). Sub-Saharan Africa's mothers, newborns, and children: how many lives could be saved with targeted health interventions? PLoS Med 7: e1000295.

- Gabrysch, S., & Campbell, O. M. (2009). Still too far to walk: literature review of the determinants of delivery service use. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 9(1), 1.
- Gabrysch, S., Cousens, S., Cox, J., & Campbell, O. M. (2011). The influence of distance and level of care on delivery place in rural Zambia: a study of linked national data in a geographic information system. *PLoS Med*, 8(1), e1000394.
- Gage, A. J. (2007). Barriers to the utilization of maternal health care in rural Mali. *Social science* & medicine, 65(8), 1666-1682.
- Ganle, J. K. (2014). Addressing socio-cultural barriers to maternal healthcare in Ghana: perspectives of women and healthcare providers. J Women's Health, Issues Care 3, 6, 2.
- Ganle, J. K., Fitzpatrick, R., Otupiri, E., & Parker, M. (2015). Addressing health system barriers to access to and use of skilled delivery services: perspectives from Ghana. *The International journal of health planning and management*.
- Ganle, J. K., Parker, M., Fitzpatrick, R., & Otupiri, E. (2014). A qualitative study of health system barriers to accessibility and utilization of maternal and newborn healthcare services in Ghana after user-fee abolition. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 14(1), 425.
- Gething, P. W., Johnson, F. A., Frempong-Ainguah, F., Nyarko, P., Baschieri, A., Aboagye, P.,
  ... & Atkinson, P. M. (2012). Geographical access to care at birth in Ghana: a barrier to safe motherhood. *BMC Public Health*, *12*(1), 1.

- Ghana Development Planning Commission (2015). Millennium Development Goals Report. <u>http://www.gh.undp.org/content/dam/ghana/docs/Doc/Inclgro/UNDP\_GH\_2015%20Gha</u> <u>na%20MDGs%20Report.pdf</u>.
- Ghana Health Service (2012). Improving Access to Quality Maternal and Child Health Service an Initiative of the Ghana Health Service and the Grameen Foundation.
- Ghana Health Service Web (2015). Ghana Health Service Head Office Directorates. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/</u> on August 31 2016.
- Ghana Health Services (2006). Reproductive and child health annual Programme of work. Ghana health Services. Ghana.
- Ghana Health Services /Reproductive and Child Health (2014). Annual performance report of the Family Health Division: 2013.
- Ghana Millennium Development Goals Report (2015). Ghana MDG Report 2015: NDPC/UN/UNDP, Accra.
- Ghana Millennium Development Goals Report (2013). Ghana MDG Report 2013: GSS/UNDP, Accra
- Ghana Millennium Development Goals Report (2011). Ghana MDG acceleration framework (MAF) and country action plan (Maternal Health): MOH/UN, Accra.
- Ghana Statistical Service (2011) Ghana Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey with an Enhanced Malaria Module and Biomarker, 2011, Final Report. Accra, Ghana.

Ghana Statistical Service (2013). Millennium Development Goals in Ghana.

Ghana Statistical Service (2013a). Population Projections. Accra, Ghana: GSS.

Ghana Statistical Service (2013b). The 2010 Population and Housing Census: National Analytical Report. Accra, Ghana: GSS.

Ghana Statistical Service (2014). Ghana Living Standards Survey Round 6 (GLSS6) Report. Retrieved July 2, 2017 from http://www.statsghana.gov.gh/docfiles/glss6\_Main%20Report.pdf.

Ghana Statistical Service (GSS), Ghana Health Service (GHS), and Macro International (2009).
 *Ghana Maternal Health Survey 2007*. Calverton, Maryland, USA: GSS, GHS, and Macro International.

Ghana Statistical Service (GSS), Ghana Health Service (GHS), and ICF Macro (2009). Ghana

Ghana Statistical Service (GSS), Ghana Health Service (GHS), and ICF International (2015). *Ghana Demographic and Health Survey 2014.* Rockville, Maryland, USA: GSS, GHS, and ICF International.

Ghana Statistical Services (2012). 2010 Population & Housing Census Report of Ghana.

Ghana web (2016). Unemployed nurses threaten to demonstrate. Published on 15<sup>th</sup> July, 2016. Available from:

http://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/NewsArchive/Unemployed-nursesthreaten-to-demonstrate-455525.

Goldberg, H. (2009). Informed decision making in maternity care. *The Journal of perinatal education*, *18*(1), 32-40.

- Goldberg, H. B., & Shorten, A. (2014). Patient and Provider Perceptions of DecisionMaking About Use of Epidural Analgesia During Childbirth: A ThematicAnalysis. *The Journal of perinatal education*, 23(3), 142-150.
- Graham, W.J., McCaw-Binns, A., Munjanja, S. (2013). Translating Coverage Gains into Health Gains for All Women and Children: The Quality Care Opportunity. *PLoS Med 10:* e1001368.
- Gross, K., Schellenberg, J. A., Kessy, F., Pfeiffer, C., & Obrist, B. (2011). Antenatal care in practice: an exploratory study in antenatal care clinics in the Kilombero Valley, southeastern Tanzania. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 11(1), 1.
- Gruskin, S., Cottingham, J., Hilber, A. M., Kismodi, E., Lincetto, O., & Roseman, M. J. (2008).Using human rights to improve maternal and neonatal health: history, connections and a proposed practical approach. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 86(8), 589-593.
- GSS, GHS. & Macro, I. C. F. (2009). Maternal Health Survey 2007, Accra, Ghana:GSS and GHS; and Calverton, MD, USA: Macro International. Accra, Ghana:GSS.
- GSS, GHS. & Macro, I. C. F. (2014). Ghana demographic and health survey 2008. Accra, Ghana: Ghana Statistical Service, Ghana Health Service, and ICF Macro.
- Gyimah, S. O, Tenkorang, E. Y., Takyi, B. K., Adjei, J., & Fosu, G. (2010). Religion,
  HIV/AIDS and sexual risk-taking among men in Ghana. *Journal of Biosocial science*, 42, 531–547.

- Gyimah, S. O., Takyi, B. K., & Addai, I. (2006). Challenges to the reproductive-health needs of African women: on religion and maternal health utilization in Ghana. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62(12), 2930-2944.
- Haque, E. S., Rahman, M., Mostofa, G & Zahan, S. (2011). Reproductive Health Care Utilization. Among Young Mothers in Bangladesh: Does Autonomy Matter? *Women's Health Issues* 1-10. Health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly*, 15, 351–377.
- Haque, M. A., Dash, S. K., & Chowdhury, M. A. B. (2016). Maternal health care seeking behavior: the case of Haor (wetland) in Bangladesh. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 1.
- Henry, R., & Fayorsey, C. (2002). Coping with pregnancy: experiences of adolescents in Ga Mashi Accra.
- Hera-Health Partners Ghana. (2013). Evaluation of the free maternal health care initiative in Ghana. Volume II (Main Report).

http://www.unicef.org/evaldatabase/files/Ghana\_130517\_Final\_Report.pdf

- Hogan, M. C., Foreman, K. J., Naghavi, M., Ahn, S. Y., Wang, M., Makela, S. M., ... & Murray,
  C. J. (2010). Maternal mortality for 181 countries, 1980–2008: a systematic analysis of
  progress towards Millennium Development Goal 5. *The lancet*, 375(9726), 1609-1623.
- Holmer, H., Oyerinde, K., Meara, J. G., Gillies, R., Liljestrand, J., & Hagander, L.
  (2015). The global met need for emergency obstetric care: a systematic review. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 122(2), 183-189.

- Hounton, S., Chapman, G., Menten, J., De Brouwere, V., Ensor, T., Sombié, I..., Ronsmans et al. (2008). Accessibility and utilisation of delivery care within a Skilled Care Initiative in rural Burkina Faso. *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 13(Suppl. 1):44–52.
- Immpact. (2008). Extending Coverage of Maternal Health Care Through the National Health Insurance Authority in Ghana: Lessons from the IMMPACT Evaluation of the Free Delivery Care Policy. Accra: Initiative for maternal mortality programme assessment. <u>http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/</u> Outputs/Immpact/ GhanaBriefingNote.pdf, accessed 30 August 2016.
- IPAS (2008). IPAS in Ghana, Chapel Hill, NC, USA.
- Iyer, A., Sen, G., & Sreevathsa, A. (2013). Deciphering Rashomon: An approach to verbal autopsies of maternal deaths. *Global public health*, 8(4), 389-404.
- Izugbara, C.O. & Ngilangwa, D.P. (2010). Women, poverty and adverse maternal outcomes in Nairobi, Kenya: *BMC, Women's Health*10, 33.
- Johnson, F. A., Frempong-Ainguah, F., & Padmadas, S. S. (2015). Two decades of maternity care fee exemption policies in Ghana: have they benefited the poor? *Health policy and planning*, czv017.
- Kamal, S. M. (2013). Preference for institutional delivery and caesarean sections in Bangladesh. Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition, 31(1), 96.

Kastning, T. (2011). Basic overview of Ghana's emerging oil industry.

- Kendall, T., & Langer, A. (2015). Critical maternal health knowledge gaps in low- and middle-income countries for the post-2015 era. *Reproductive Health*,12, 55. doi:10.1186/s12978-015-0044-5.
- Khanal, V., Adhikari, M., Karkee, R., & Gavidia, T. (2014). Factors associated with the utilisation of postnatal care services among the mothers of Nepal: analysis of Nepal Demographic and Health Survey 2011. *BMC women's health*, *14*(1), 1.
- Koblinsky, M., Matthews, Z., Hussein, J., Mavalankar, D., Mridha, M. K., ..., Adjei et al. (2006). Going to scale with professional skilled care. The Lancet, 368(9544):1377–1386.
- Koch, G. G. (1982). Intraclass correlation coefficient. In: Kotz S, Johnson NL (eds... Koch GG (1982).
- Kumar, C., Rai, R. K., Singh, P. K., & Singh, L. (2013). Socioeconomic disparities in maternity care among Indian adolescents, 1990–2006. *PloS one*, 8(7), e69094.
- Kumar, S., Dansereau, E., & Murray, C. (2012). Does distance matter for institutional delivery in rural India: An instrumental variable approach. Available at SSRN 2243709.
- Kusi, A., Enemark, U., Hansen, K. S., & Asante, F. A. (2015). Refusal to enrol in Ghana's National Health Insurance Scheme: is affordability the problem? *International journal for equity in health*, 14(1), 1.

- Kyei-Nimakoh, M., Carolan-Olah, M., & McCann, T. V. (2016). Millennium development Goal
  5: progress and challenges in reducing maternal deaths in Ghana. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 16, 51. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-016-0840-0
- Lambon-Quayefio, M.P. & Owoo, S.N. (2014). Examining the Influence of Antenatal Care Visits and Skilled Delivery on Neonatal Deaths in Ghana. *Appl Health Econ Health Policy* 12:511–522.
- Le Ray, C., Goffinet, F., Palot, M., Garel, M., & Blondel, B. (2008). Factors associated with the choice of delivery without epidural analgesia in women at low risk in France. *Birth*, 35(3), 171–178.
- Lori, J. R., Rominski, S., Richardson, J., Agyei-Baffour, P., Kweku, N. E., & Gyakobo, M.
   (2012). Factors influencing Ghanaian midwifery students' willingness to work in rural areas: A computerized survey. *International journal of nursing studies*, 49(7), 834-841.
- Lori, J. R., Dahlem, C. H. Y., Ackah, J. V., & Adanu, R. M. (2014). Examining antenatal health literacy in Ghana. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 46(6), 432-440.
- Lowe, S. M., & Moore, S. (2014). Social networks and female reproductive choices in the developing world: a systematized review. *Reproductive health*, *11*(1), 85.
- Magadi, M. A., Madise, N. J., & Rodrigues, R. N. (2000). Frequency and timing of antenatal care in Kenya: explaining the variations between women of different communities. *Social science & medicine*, 51(4), 551-561.

- Mahiti, G. R., Kiwara, A. D., Mbekenga, C. K., Hurtig, A.-K., & Goicolea, I. (2015).
  "We have been working overnight without sleeping": traditional birth attendants' practices and perceptions of post-partum care services in rural Tanzania. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *15*, 8. doi:10.1186/s12884-015-0445-z.
- Mangham-Jefferies, L., Pitt, C., Cousens, S., Mills, A. & Schulenburg, J. (2014). Costeffectiveness of strategies to improve the utilization and provision of maternal and newborn health care in low-income and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14:243.

Mantey, J. (2013, January 23) Maternity Mortality Remains High in Ghana. News Africa.

- Map of Ghana (2012). The Map of Ghana. Retrieved March 22, 2017 from <a href="http://ghanahopefoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/map-of-Ghana.jpg">http://ghanahopefoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/map-of-Ghana.jpg</a>.
- Marston, C., Renedo, A., McGowan, C. R., & Portela, A. (2013). Effects of community participation on improving uptake of skilled care for maternal and newborn health: a systematic review. *PLoS One*, 8(2), e55012.
- Maternal Health Channel. (2014). Maternal Health Channel. Available: http://www.mhcghana.com.
- Mensah, J., Oppong, J. R., & Schmidt, C. M. (2010). Ghana's National Health Insurance Scheme in the context of the health MDGs: An empirical evaluation using propensity score matching. *Health economics*, 19(S1), 95-106.

- Mikkonen, J., & Raphael, D. (2010). Social Determinants of Health: The Canadian Facts, Toronto, Ont: York University School of Health Policy and Management.
- Mills, S., Bertrand, J.T. (2005). Use of health professionals for obstetric care in northern Ghana. *Stud Fam Plann 36*:45–56.
- Ministry of Health (2001). Reflections on the First Five Year Health Sector Program of Work 1997- 2001.

Ministry of Health (2008). Implementation guidelines for financing free maternal health care.

Ministry of Health (2004). Guidelines for implementing the exemption policy on maternal deliveries. Accra: Report No. MOH/Policy Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation-59.

Ministry of Health/ Ghana Health Services (2004). 2004 Program of Work.

Ministry of Health/Ghana Health Services (2011). 2011 Program of Work.

Ministry of Health/Ghana Health Services (2013). 2013 Program of Work.

Ministry of Health/Ghana Health Services (2014). 2014 Program of Work.

Ministry of Health/Ghana Health Services. (2014). Ghana National Newborn Health Strategy and Action Plan 2014-2018. Retrieve from

http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/downloads/Ghana\_National\_Newborn\_Strategy\_Fin al\_Version\_March\_27.pdf

Mistry, R., Galal, O. & Lu, M. (2009). Women's autonomy and pregnancy care in rural India: A contextual analysis. Social Science and Medicine 69 (6): 926-933.

- Morhee, R. A. S., & Morhee, E. S. K. (2006). Overview of the law and availability of abortion services in Ghana. *Ghana Medical Journal*, *40*(3).
- Mote, C. V., Otupiri, E. &Hindin, M.J. (2010). Factors associated with induced abortion among women in Hohoe, Ghana. *African journal of reproductive health*, 14(4): 115-21.
- Moyer, C. A. (2012). Facility-Based Delivery in Ghana: A Three-Part Study of Drivers and Deterrents (Doctoral dissertation, University of Ghana).
- Moyer, C. A., & Mustafa, A. (2013). Drivers and deterrents of facility delivery in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *Reproductive health*, *10*(1), 1.
- Moyer, C. A., Adanu, R. M., & Engmann, C. M. (2013). The relationship between facility-based delivery and maternal and neonatal mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, *122*(3), 263-265.
- Moyer, C. A., Adongo, P. B., Aborigo, R. A., Hodgson, A., Engmann, C. M., & DeVries, R. (2014). "It's up to the woman's people": how social factors influence facility-based delivery in Rural Northern Ghana. *Maternal and child health journal*, 18(1), 109-119.
- Moyer, C.A., Adongo, P.B., Aborigo, R.A., Hodgson, A., Engmann, C.M. (2013a). 'They treat you like you are not a human being': Maltreatment during labour and delivery in rural northern Ghana. *Midwifery* [Epub].

- Mucunguzi, S., Wamani, H., Lochoro, P., & Tylleskar, T. (2014). Effects of Improved Access to Transportation on Emergency Obstetric Care Outcomes in Uganda. African journal of reproductive health, 18(3), 87-94.
- Munar, W., Hovmand, P. S., Fleming, C., & Darmstadt, G. L. (2015, July). Scaling-up impact in perinatology through systems science: Bridging the collaboration and translational divides in cross-disciplinary research and public policy. In *Seminars in Perinatology*. WB Saunders.
- Ndep, A. O. (2014). Informed community participation is essential to reducing maternal mortality in Nigeria. *Int J Health and Psychol Res*, 2(1), 26-33.
- Oduro, G.Y. & Otsin, M. N. A. (2014). "Abortion—It Is My Own Body": Women's Narratives About Influences on Their Abortion Decisions in Ghana. *Health Care for Women International*, 35:918–936. DOI: 10.1080/07399332.2014.914941.
- Ofori-Adjei, D. (2007). Ghana's free delivery care policy. Ghana Medical Journal 41: 94-5.
- Ohaja, M. (2014). Safe motherhood initiative: what is next? *The practicing midwife*, *17*(6), 16-18.
- Olusegun, O. L., Thomas, I. R., & Micheal, I. M. (2012). Curbing maternal and child mortality: The Nigerian experience. *International Journal of Nursing and Midwifery*, 4(3), 33-39.

- Ononokpono, D. N., Odimegwu, C. O., Imasiku, E. N., & Adedini, S. A. (2014). Does it Really Matter Where Women Live? A Multilevel Analysis of the Determinants of Postnatal Care in Nigeria. *Maternal and child health journal*, 18(4), 950-959.
- Ononokpono, D. N. (2015). Maternal health care in Nigeria: Do community factors moderate the effects of individual-level Education and Ethnic origin? *Etude de la Population Africaine*, *29*(1), 1554.
- Opoku, E. A. (2009). Utilization of Maternal Care services in Ghana by Region after the Implementation of the Free Maternal Care Policy. Fort Worth, Tx: University of North Texas Health Science Center. Retrieved from

http://digitalcommons.hsc.unt.edu/theses/78.

- Osborne, J. W. (2000). Advantages of hierarchical linear modeling. *Practical Assessment*, *Research & Evaluation*, 7(1). Retrieved May 2, 2016 from http://PAREonline.net/getvn.asp?v=7&n=1.
- Osorio, A. M., Tovar, L. M., & Rathmann, K. (2014). Individual and local level factors and antenatal care use in Colombia: a multilevel analysis. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública*, *30*(5), 1079-1092.
- Östlund, U., Kidd, L., Wengström, Y., & Rowa-Dewar, N. (2011). Combining qualitative and quantitative research within mixed method research designs: a methodological review. *International journal of nursing studies*, 48(3), 369-383.

- Padmanaban, P., Raman, P. S., & Mavalankar, D. V. (2009). Innovations and challenges in reducing maternal mortality in Tamil Nadu, India. *Journal of health, population, and nutrition*, 27(2), 202.
- Parkhurst, J. O., Penn-Kekana, L., Blaauw, D., Balabanova, D., Danishevski, K., Rahman, S. A.,
  ... & Ssengooba, F. (2005). Health systems factors influencing maternal health services: a four-country comparison. *Health Policy*, 73(2), 127-138.
- Paruzzolo, S., Mehra, R., Kes, A., & Ashbaugh, C. (2010). Targeting poverty and gender inequality to improve maternal health. Solutions for girls and women, 2nd Global Conference. Washington, DC: Women deliver.

Patton, M. (2002). *Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods*: USA: Sage Publications.

- Pell, C., Meñaca, A., Were, F., Afrah, N. A., Chatio, S., Manda-Taylor, L., ... & Pool, R.
  (2013). Factors affecting antenatal care attendance: results from qualitative studies in Ghana, Kenya and Malawi. *PloS one*, 8(1), e53747.
- Petrou., S., Kupek E., Vause, S., Maresh, M. (2001). Clinical, provider and socio-demographic determinants of the number of antenatal visits in England and Wale. *Social Science & Medicine*, 52, 1123-1134.
- Plano Clark, V. L. (2010). The adoption and practice of mixed methods: U.S. trends in federally funded health-related research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 6(6), 428-44.
- Prior, L. (2003). Using documents in social research. London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Prior, L. (2008). Documents and action. *The SAGE handbook of social research methods*, 479-492.
- Ransom, E. I., & Yinger, N. V. (2002). Motherhood.

- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods* (Vol. 1). Sage.
- Raudenbush, S.W., Bryk, A.S, & Congdon, R. (2011). HLM 7.00 for Windows [Computer software]. Lincolnwood, IL: Scientific Software International, Inc.
- Reifsnider, E., Gallagher, M., & Forgione, B. (2005). Using ecological models in research on health disparities. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 21, 216–222.
- Ridde, V., Kouanda, S., Bado, A., Bado, N & Haddad, S. (2012). Reducing the medical cost of deliveries in Burkina Faso is good for everyone, including the poor. *PLoS One* 7: e33082.
- Rominski, S. D., Gupta, M., Aborigo, R., Adongo, P., Engman, C., Hodgson, A., & Moyer, C.
  (2014). Female autonomy and reported abortion-seeking in Ghana, West
  Africa. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, *126*(3), 217-222.
- Ross, J. A., Adelaja, D., & Bollinger, L. (2008). Effort levels of national maternal and neonatal health programs: 2005 measures and six-year trends. *Maternal and child health journal*, 12(5), 586-598.
- Sakyi, E. K., Atinga, R & Adzei, F.A. (2012) "Managerial problems of hospitals under Ghana's National Health Insurance Scheme", Clinical Governance: An International Journal, Vol. 17 Iss: 3, pp.178 – 190.
- Sanneving, L., Trygg, N., Saxena, D., Mavalankar, D., & Thomsen, S. (2013). Inequity in India: the case of maternal and reproductive health. *Global health action*, *6*.

- Say, L., Chou, D., Gemmill, A., & Tunçalp, Ö. (2014). Global causes of maternal death: A WHO systematic analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*; 2 (6): e323-e333.
- Sedgh, G. (2010). Abortion in Ghana. Issues in brief (Alan Guttmacher Institute), (2), 1-4.
- Senah, K. (2003) Maternal Mortality in Ghana: The Other Side1 Institute of Africa Studies: *Research Review* 19(1)47-55.

Sialubanje, C., Massar, K., van der Pijl, M. S., Kirch, E. M., Hamer, D. H., & Ruiter, R. A.

- (2015). Improving access to skilled facility-based delivery services: Women's beliefs on facilitators and barriers to the utilisation of maternity waiting homes in rural Zambia. *Reproductive health*, 12(1), 61.
- Simkhada, B., Teijlingen, E. R. V., Porter, M., & Simkhada, P. (2008). Factors affecting the utilization of antenatal care in developing countries: systematic review of the literature. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 61(3), 244-260.
- Simkhada, B., Teijlingen, E. R. V., Porter, M., & Simkhada, P. (2008). Factors affecting the utilization of antenatal care in developing countries: systematic review of the literature. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 61(3), 244-260.
- Singh, A., Kumar, A., & Pranjali, P. (2014). Utilization of maternal healthcare among adolescent mothers in urban India: evidence from DLHS-3. *PeerJ*, *2*, e592.
- Solar, O. & Irwin, A. (2010). A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health. Social Determinants of Health Discussion Paper 2 (Policy and Practice).

Retrieved June 12, 2015 from

http://www.who.int/social\_determinants/publications/9789241500852/en/

- Souza, J. P., Tunçalp, Ö., Vogel, J. P., Bohren, M., Widmer, M., Oladapo, O. T., ... & Temmerman, M. (2014). Obstetric transition: the pathway towards ending preventable maternal deaths. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *121*(s1), 1-4.
- Speizer, I. S., Story, W. T., & Singh, K. (2014). Factors associated with institutional delivery in Ghana: the role of decision-making autonomy and community norms. BMC pregnancy and childbirth, 14(1), 398.
- Srivastava, A., Avan, B. I., Rajbangshi, P., & Bhattacharyya, S. (2015). Determinants of women's satisfaction with maternal health care: a review of literature from developing countries. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 15(1), 97.
- Stephenson, R., Baschieri, A., Clements, S., Hennink, M., & Madise, N. (2006). Contextual influences on the use of health facilities for childbirth in Africa. *American journal of public health*, 96(1), 84-93.
- Sundaram, A., Juarez, F., Bankole, A., & Singh, S. (2012). Factors associated with abortion-seeking and obtaining a safe abortion in Ghana. *Studies in Family Planning*, *43*(4), 273-286.
- Tenkorang, E. Y., & Owusu, G. (2010). Correlates of HIV/AIDS testing in Ghana: some evidence from the demographic and health surveys. *AIDS Care*, 22, 296–307.

- Tenkorang, E. Y., Maticka-Tyndale, E., & Rajulton, F. (2011). A multi-level analysis of risk perception, poverty and sexual risk-taking among young people in Cape Town, South Africa. *Health & place*, 17(2), 525-535.
- Tenkorang, E. Y., Owusu, A. Y., Yeboah, E. H., & Bannerman, R. (2013). Factors influencing domestic and marital violence against women in Ghana. *Journal of family violence*, 28(8), 771-781.
- Tey, N. P., & Lai, S. L. (2013). Correlates of and barriers to the utilization of health services for delivery in South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2013.
- Thaddeus, S. & Maine, D. (1994). Too far to walk: maternal mortality in context. Soc Sci Med 38:1091-1100.
- Titaley, C. R., Hunter, C. L., Heywood, P., & Dibley, M. J. (2010). Why don't some women attend antenatal and postnatal care services? a qualitative study of community members' perspectives in Garut, Sukabumi and Ciamis districts of West Java Province, Indonesia. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 10(1), 1.
- Tunc alp, O., Hindin, J.M., Adu-Bonsaffoh, K & Adanu, M.R. (2014). Understanding the Continuum of Maternal Morbidity in Accra, Ghana. *Matern Child Health J*. 18:1648–1657.
- UNDP (2012). 2010 Ghana Millennium Development Goals Report.
- UNICEF (2013). UNICEF at a glance: Ghana. Retrieved from http://www.unicef.org/infobycountry/ghana\_statistics.html on March 25, 2015.

- UNICEF (2014). State of the World's Children, Childinfo, and Demographic and Health Surveys by ICF International.
- United Nations (2006). Universal access to sexual and reproductive health services. <u>http://www.eldis.org/health/Universal/index.htm</u>. Accessed on 15<sup>th</sup> August, 2016.
- United Nations (UN). (1995). Report of the international conference on population and development. Cairo, 5–13 September 1994. New York, NY: Retrieved from https://www.unfpa.org/webdav/site/global/shared/documents/publications/2016/icpd\_eng.pdf.

Uzondu, C. A., Doctor, H. V., Findley, S. E., Afenyadu, G. Y., & Ager, A. (2015).
Female Health Workers at the Doorstep: A Pilot of Community-Based
Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health Service Delivery in Northern Nigeria. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, 3(1), 97-108.

- Vyas, S., & Kumaranayake, L. (2006). Constructing socio-economic status indices: how to use principal components analysis. *Health policy and planning*, *21*(6), 459-468.
- Walt, G., Gilson, L. (1994). Reforming the health sector in developing countries: the central role of policy analysis. *Health Policy Plan*, 9(4):353–370.

Wilson, N. O., Ceesay, F. K., Obed, S. A., Adjei, A. A., Gyasi, R. K., Rodney, P., ...
Stiles, J. K. (2011). Intermittent Preventive Treatment with SulfadoxinePyrimethamine against Malaria and Anemia in Pregnant Women. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and* Hygiene, 85(1), 12–21.

- Witter, S., Arhinful, D. K., Kusi, A., & Zakariah-Akoto, S. (2007). The experience of Ghana in implementing a user fee exemption policy to provide free delivery care. *Reproductive health matters*, 15(30), 61-71.
- Witter, S., Adjei, S., Armar-Klemesu, M., & Graham, W. (2009). Providing free maternal health care: ten lessons from an evaluation of the national delivery exemption policy in Ghana. *Global Health Action*, 2.
- Witter, S., Garshong, B., & Ridde, V. (2013). An exploratory study of the policy process and early implementation of the free NHIS coverage for pregnant women in Ghana.*International journal for equity in health*, *12*(1), 1.
- Worku, A., Jemal, M., & Gedefaw, A. (2013). Institutional delivery service utilization in Woldia, Ethiopia. *Science journal of public health*, 1(1), 18-23.
- World Health Organization (1986). Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion, First
   International Conference on Health Promotion, Ottawa, 21 November 1986 WHO/HPR/HEP/95.1. Available at:

http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/

World Health Organization (1999). Reduction of maternal mortality: a joint
WHO/UNICEF/UNFPA/World Bank statement. Geneva: WHO.
http://www.unfpa.org/upload/lib\_pub\_file/236\_filename\_e\_rmm.pdf [accessed on 12 August 2016].

- World Health Organization (2010). Key components of a well functioning health system. Retrieved from <u>http://www.who.int/healthsystems/publications/hss\_key/en/</u> [accessed on 14 November 2017].
- World Health Organization (2012). Trends in Maternal Mortality: 1990-2010. WHO,UNICEF, UNFPA and The World Bank estimates. Geneva: World HealthOrganization.
- World Health Organization (2012). United Nations resolution on universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization (2013). WHO recommendations on postnatal care of the mother and newborn. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization (2014). Maternal mortality in 1990-2013: Nigeria. UNICEF, UNFPA, The World Bank & the United Nations Population Division. Geneva: WHO.
- World Health Organization (2014). <u>Trends in maternal mortality: 1990 to 2015</u>.
  Estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, The World Bank and the United Nations Population Division.
- World Health Organization (2015). <u>Trends in maternal mortality: 1990 to 2015</u>.Estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, The World Bank and the United Nations Population Division.
- World Health Organization. (1949). WHO Constitution. Retrieved July 28, 2015 from http://www.who.int/about/en/&.

World Health Organization. (1998). The World Health Report 1998: Life in the 21st century a vision for all. In *The world health report 1998: life in the 21st century A vision for all*. World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. (2006). Provision of effective antenatal care: integrated management of pregnancy and childbirth (IMPAC). Standards for Maternal and neonatal care.
Geneva: WHO. From

http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/maternal\_perinatal\_health/effective\_ antenatal\_care.pdf. Accessed 5th August 2015.

- Yebyo, H. G., Gebreselassie, M. A., Kahsay, A. B., 2014. Individual and community level predictors of home delivery in Ethiopia: A multilevel mixed effects analysis of the 2011 Ethiopia national demographic and health survey. DHS Working Papers. Rockville, Maryland: ICF International.
- Younes, L., Houweling, T. A., Azad, K., Kuddus, A., Shaha, S., Haq, B., ... & Fottrell,
  E. (2015). The effect of participatory women's groups on infant feeding and child health knowledge, behavior and outcomes in rural Bangladesh: a controlled before-and-after study. *Journal of epidemiology and community health*, 69(4), 374-381.